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PART ONE

STATEMENT ON QUALITY OF THE HEALTHCARE SERVICES PROVIDED FROM THE CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OF THE TRUST

In the last year we have continued our journey to be Better Every Day and
deliver our number one strategic goal: to deliver high quality care, first time,
every time.
We have made good progress on quality improvement in many services and
this is down to the hard work and commitment of our staff. Whilst we have
worked through major initiatives such as Dorset's Clinical Services Review and
the Mental Health Acute Care Pathway Review, to improve and protect
services for the future, staff have maintained their focus on ensuring the best
possible care for our patients and service users.
Underpinning our approach to quality improvement is a commitment to
nurturing an environment and culture that is supportive and empowering, and
giving people the tools and knowledge they need so that everyone feels able
to work to the very best of their ability, to innovate and improve our services.
We have made a further significant commitment to maintaining the pace of improvement through
development of our Quality Improvement programme in 2017/18. The creation of a small, dedicated
team this year has been accompanied by conversations with staff about what quality means to them
and the tools they need. In 2018/19 we will formally launch our programme, which will bring a
systematic approach and methodology to how we drive quality improvement at Dorset HealthCare.
This report sets out an evaluation of our progress to improve quality during 2017/18 whilst on our
journey to 'outstanding'. It provides an assessment of progress against our quality priorities, an
overview of our quality performance, the detail of the progress we made to close the majority of our
CQC action plans, and includes just a few of our other achievements. It goes on to set out our quality
priorities for the year ahead and our ongoing commitment to quality improvement.
The CQC inspection of our services is of course an important indicator of progress being made.
Between 13 and 17 November 2017, the CQC inspected a number of our core service areas and
inspected the well-led key domain at Trust level in December 2017. The final report was published on
13 April 2018.
There is much in this report to demonstrate the progress we have made to improve quality and I am
proud of the hard work of staff. We remain committed to improving the quality of services at Dorset
HealthCare so they are the very best they can be for the p ople we serve.
Ron Shields, Chief Executive
28 April 2018
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DECLARATION OF ACCURACY

Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust (DHC) remains committed to continuous quality
improvement in all the services we provide. The Board has strengthened over the past year and
continues to improve the way it obtains assurance.
This report is an open and honest assessment of what we have achieved and how we have improved
the quality of our services through our quality priorities and other quality indicators. It details the
progress made against our quality targets and the priorities we have set for ourselves over the past
year. The report is consistent with internal and external information presented to and agreed by our
Quality Governance Committee (QGC) and the Trust Board. Each meeting receives monthly updates
or quarterly quality reports against our agreed targets.
The Board receives an integrated performance report including a quality dashboard covering all three
domains of quality:
• patient experience
• patient safety
• clinical effectiveness.
The Quality Governance Committee provides further scrutiny of the quality of services. This
committee is supported by the Executive Quality and Clinical Risk Group which meets monthly to
examine the internal quality and clinical processes. It provides an in-depth review of the data to
assure the QGC that adequate systems are operated by the organisation.
Non-Executive and Executive Directors have visited wards and teams to hear and observe first-hand
the quality of care being delivered, enhancing the line of sight from 'Board to Ward'. The Board is
committed to being visible and accessible to front-line staff and patients.
The Trust is committed to raising standards of care and will respond promptly and positively to
criticism and suggestions for improving care. We value the feedback of patients, carers, family and
friends alongside all our staff to guide how we improve the quality of services.
The Council of Governors, Board of Directors and clinical leaders are committed to delivering a
programme of continuous quality improvement during 2018/19.
In preparing our Quality Account and Report, we have worked hard to ensure that the information
presented is accurate and provides a fair reflection of our performance during the year. I hope you
find this report an interesting and informative document. I think it presents a fair and balanced view
of what we have achieved and what we hope to achieve this coming year. To the best of my
knowledge the information in the docum nt is accura

Date: 28 April 2018
Ron Shields - Chief Executive
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PART TWO
PRIORITIES FOR IMPROVEMENT AND STATEMENTS OF ASSURANCE FROM THE
BOARD

PRIORITIES FOR IMPROVEMENT 2017/18

We are committed to providing the highest standard of care. To determine our quality priorities for
2017/18 we listened to the views of our patients, our staff, our commissioners and other stakeholders to
ensure we continue to deliver improvements. Internally we triangulated information from many sources
including patient and service users, staff feedback, incidents, compliments, complaints, and
performance against our key quality indicators. We also look at recommendations from external
inspections including the Care Quality Commission, NHS England, NHS Improvement and national
reports and recommendations.
Progress against our priorities is reported quarterly to the Executive Quality and Clinical Risk Group.
This group reports into the Quality Governance Committee, a sub-committee of the Trust Board.
Using this information we drafted our proposed quality priorities and carried out a wide consultation with
our staff, public, stakeholders and Governors.
As a new initiative we conducted our consultation using Survey Monkey™. We launched the
consultation with our staff at our Quality Matters Conference on 27 January 2017. We wrote to 21 of
our stakeholders who had been engaged with the Trust over the previous year, signposting them to the
survey on our website and included a link for ease of access.
Respondents were asked to select their preferred option from a choice of three, for each domain, and
provide some dialogue as to their reason for choosing it. We also asked people to include any other
areas they felt we should consider for a quality priority.
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QUALITY PRIORITIES 2017/18
We start this section by reporting on our achievements against the Trust’s quality priorities we set
ourselves for 2017/18. The following tables outline the priorities and progress over the past year.
Priority 1 Patient Experience:
Outcome:
We will introduce the Triangle of Care across our mental health inpatient areas

Achieved

Rationale:
The Triangle of Care Membership Scheme is for mental health providers to evidence their commitment
to changing the culture of their organisation to one that is carer inclusive. The Triangle of Care seeks to
challenge the traditional treatment approach of a primary focus on the individual accessing the service
to that of a partnership between the person, their supporters and professionals.
Dorset HealthCare (DHC) has had previous involvement with the Triangle of Care but re-registered as a
member in March 2016. This project is being jointly led by the Participation Team and Mental
Health Services Carers Participation Lead and Lead for Recovery and Social Inclusion supported by
Rethink Mental Illness, Dorset Mental Health Forum and Dorset Mental Health Carers Project.
The reason for signing up to the Triangle of Care is to shift the culture of DHC to continue our focus on
carers and supporters to improve not just the experience of carers and supporters but also people who
access services and staff.
The Carers Trust is a charity for, with and about carers. It works to improve, support services
for anyone living with the challenges of caring, unpaid for a family member. In a statement they
said “A number of organisations have acknowledged that one of the key improvements they are
seeing is in staff attitude to carers, and carer and staff engagement. This shift in cultural practice
and attitudes is proving to be a slow process but feedback is positive.”
Whilst there are positive steps being taken in working with carers and supporters in DHC; such as
the development of peer carer roles, carers’ officers, Recovery Education Centre courses for carers
and family work, the Triangle of Care provides the opportunity to make this much more consistent
and robust and enable DHC to evidence systematic, sustainable progress.
Trusts who join the membership scheme and complete the appropriate stages for their
organisation receive an award to recognise their commitment. For Mental Health Trusts this is up to
two stars and for Trusts that are integrated such as DHC there is a third star. The first star is achieved
for completing stage one (self-assessing all inpatient and crisis teams) and then committing to
improve. The second star is for completing self-assessments for all of their community services.
This is all mental health, learning disability, older people and dementia and substance misuse
services. Trusts who are integrated (provide community physical health services), receive a
third star if they complete self-assessment in all of their physical health services.
Quarter 1

Quarter 2

Quarter 3

Quarter 4

We completed an audit
of progress against
completion of selfassessment for the six
standards developed by
the Carers Trust for all
mental health inpatients
and Crisis Teams

We submitted selfassessments, including
team action plans to
the Carers Trust from
inpatient and Crisis
Teams

We reviewed and
updated the submitted
Team action plans from
quarter 2

We completed an audit
of Community Mental
Health Teams progress
We were awarded the
first of three stars from
the Carer Trust

Going forward:
•

Having been awarded the first of three stars from the Carer Trust we now want to build on that
success and enhance the experience of people who use our services and their carers
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Outcome:
Priority 2 Patient Safety:
We will identify areas where we can upskill our workforce to bring care to the Achieved
patient rather than transferring the patient to another care provider in order to
receive care
Rationale:
In 2017/18 we aimed to build on the work completed in the prevous year in reducing the number
of patients using our services who experience an unexpected deterioration in their physical
condition resulting in an admission to an acute general hospital.
We aimed to identify where we could upskill our workforce to bring care to the patient rather
than transferring the patient to another provider in order to receive the appropriate care.
Given the increasing integration of health and social care services, it is essential that the patient's
journey along the care pathway is as smooth as possible, particularly when moving from a hospital
ward back into the community.
Patients report frustration and reduced satisfaction when they are referred to a variety of services
in order to meet their needs. Points of transfer between people or services can increase
risk if communication is not robust and can lead to the patient having to re-tell their story,
especially when information recording systems differ between services. This priority provides a way of
creating a multi-skilled workforce that is able to adapt faster to the needs of the local community
and alleviate the pressure on Emergency Departments and GPs.
Quarter 1
We developed and
agreed a competency
framework of
treatments/interventions
that could be provided
by our hospital staff
We established baseline
data and identified
reasons for emergency
department attendance

Quarter 2
We developed a plan to
build cross boundary
relationships and
establish networks and
pathways
We identified training
needs and planned
changes to practice

Quarter 3
The Willows Unit,
Yeatman Hospital, a 30
bed physical health
ward with 40 WTE staff
piloted the competency
framework linked to
appraisal.
As appraisals are
completed the
competency framework
will be reviewed as part
of the appraisal
process.
A Registered General
Nurse (RGN) has been
recruited for Haven
Ward at St Ann’s
Hospital

Quarter 4
Competency framework
incorporated within
management
supervision and
appraisals across
physical and mental
health inpatient wards
Using learning from the
pilot we started to roll
out across inpatient
services
Three Registered
General Nurses have
been recruited to
mental health acute
ward broadening the
knowledge and skills to
support patients with
physical health needs.

Going forward:
• We will continue to develop cross boundary working with our acute trust colleagues
• We will continue to develop bespoke training. Next session is dysphagia training for mental
health staff in June 2018.
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Priority 3 Clinical Effectiveness:
Support our staff to be more effective in the assessment, treatment and
management of patients with dementia

Outcome:
Achieved

Rationale:
As reported by the NHS Confederation dementia affects about 3% of people aged 65 and over in
the UK, and over 20% of those aged over 80. As the population ages these numbers will rise,
while national strategies aimed at improving diagnosis of dementia means a greater proportion
will be identified. As these people will have healthcare needs unrelated to their dementia they will
come into contact with healthcare professionals in all clinical settings.
Inspired by the national John’s Campaign, we launched the carer’s passport in our community hospitals
as part of our patient experience quality priority last year, and will continue rolling out this initiative in
our inpatient units.
We are committed to ensuring that all staff have access to relevant knowledge training and support
from other Trust services so that patients’ mental health needs can be met whilst they are being treated
for a physical condition, and vice versa.
Finally our commitment to continuing our work started in 2016/17 supporting wards to focus on delivery
of high quality care for older people. We worked with the Royal College of Psychiatrists and the
six physical health wards who achieved stage 1 to achieve full accreditation of The Quality Mark for
Elder-Friendly Hospital Wards Programme during 2017/18. We also recruited and supported a second
cohort of wards from our community hospital through the first stage.
Quarter 1
We established a cohort
of dementia champions
to receive training and
carried out a training
needs analysis
We used the learning
identified from the
John’s Campaign pilot in
2016/17 to adapt the
implementation plan
The six wards who
achieved Royal College
of Psychiatrists Stage 1
Quality Mark during
2016/17 continued to
work on their action
plans

Quarter 2
We developed a
communication plan and
provided training to our
dementia champions
We rolled out the
implementation plan for
John’s Campaign
The six wards who
achieved Royal College
of Psychiatrists Stage 1
Quality Mark during
2016/17 completed their
action plans

Quarter 3
We continued to
provide training for
our dementia
champions
We rolled out the
implementation plan
for John’s Campaign
and undertook data
collection on the
number of carers
passports
The six wards who
achieved Royal
College of
Psychiatrists Stage 1
Quality Mark
progressed to Stage 2
data collection
A further five wards
commenced data
collection for Stage 1

Quarter 4
We evaluated the
training provided to
dementia champions
and the effect it has had
when delivering care
Carers Passport are
being embedded with
the support of the
Trust’s electronic health
record system
Six wards were
awarded the Quality
Mark
Three wards having
successfully completed
stage 1 are able to
progress to stage 2

Going forward:
• We will support the wards progressing from Quality Mark Stage 1 to Stage 2
• We will continue to support the second cohort of wards to achieve stage 2
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QUALITY IMPROVEMENT PRIORITIES 2018/19

This year to identify the quality priorities we held a workshop to review all the improvement programmes
underway in the Trust. We have a wealth of improvement plans to address various work streams,
including:
•
•
•
•
•

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence quality standards and guidance
Commissioning for Quality and Innovation
Various national accreditation awards
Sign up to Safety Campaign
Better EveryDay Programme

There are also local improvement plans specific to particular wards or teams, to address areas the staff
want to improve.
We also considered themes from complaints, incident feedback from patients and staff and
performance against key quality indicators. We reviewed recommendations from external reviews such
as those published by the Care Quality Commission, NHS Improvement and other national bodies.
From all the information we held we identified those areas which would have the most impact for people
who use our services to develop our quality priorities and supporting indicators.
These were then launched at the Quality Matters Conference on 26 January 2018 and the feedback
used to refine our selection. Respondents wanted a focus on children’s services and inclusion of our
new patient experience feedback system called GatherTM. Using this feedback we refined our priorities
and went to wider consultation with our stakeholders who have been engaged with the Trust during the
year. We also made the consultation available on our website to enable members of the public and
other stakeholder express their views.
The quality priorities support the Trusts’ vision to be better every day through excellence, compassion
and expertise in all we do, as well as the strategic goal to provide high quality care; first time, every
time.
PATIENT EXPERIENCE
To be an organisation that involves the patient, their families and carers
The Triangle of Care guide was launched in July 2010 as a joint piece of work between Carers Trust
and the National Mental Health Development Unit, emphasising the need for better local strategic
involvement of carers and families in the care planning and treatment of people with mental ill-health.
The Triangle of Care Membership Scheme is designed for mental health providers to evidence their
commitment to changing the culture of their organisation to one that is carer inclusive.
In 2017/18 we focussed on introducing the Triangle of Care in our mental health inpatient and crisis
services. Our aim was to improve not just the experience of carers and supporters but also people who
access services and staff. This proved very successful and the Trust has been awarded its’ first of
three stars from the Carers Trust which confirms our commitment to being carer inclusive.
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We now want to build on that success and further enhance the experience of people who use our
services and their carers. We will continue to embed the Triangle of Care in our mental health inpatient
and crisis teams whilst rolling out to our community mental health teams.
Alongside this work in mental health services, we will commit to sign up to the Dementia Friendly
Hospital Charter. The Charter sets the standards anyone with dementia or their carer can expect from
any hospital and builds on the work we have undertaken with John’s Campaign and the carer’s
passport in our community hospitals.
The last element for this priority will be to develop patient experience feedback mechanisms in Child
and Adolescent Mental Health Services to understand and improve their experiences of our services.
By taking forward these three work streams we will be improving the experience of people using our
mental health, physical health and children’s services.
PATIENT SAFETY
To be an organisation that creates a positive and strong safety culture
Our patient safety priority in 2017/18 was to upskill our workforce to bring care to the patient rather than
transferring them to another care provider to receive treatment. We developed competency
frameworks and improved working across inpatient and community teams. This year we want to focus
on specific aspects to ensure we are keeping patient safety at the heart of all we do.
We want to support our staff in the early detection and management of deterioration in adult inpatients.
A key element in the detection is the National Early Warning Score which is a tool whereby scores are
allocated to six physiological measurements;
1. respiration rate
2. oxygen saturation
3. systolic blood pressure
4. pulse rate
5. level of consciousness or new confusion
6. temperature
Changes in these measurements can indicate deterioration in the patients physical health and act as a
trigger for early clinical intervention.
Leading on from this indicator we want to support our staff in the early detection and management of
emergency situations affecting adult patients. These emergency situations include choking as well as
sudden cardiac arrest. We are going to review our levels of life support training to make sure use of
oxygen and suction are included to promote airway management in these situations. We are going to
enhance our classroom-based learning with onsite scenarios so that teams can gain real time
experience in a controlled environment.
CLINICAL EFFECTIVENESS
To be an organisation that supports health promotion, effective preventative interventions and
delivers quality standards for our patients
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In 2017/18 we supported our staff to be more effective in the assessment, treatment and management
of patients with dementia. This year we want to focus on the prevention of ill health and support people
who use our services to adopt healthier lifestyles. We want to continue supporting staff who work in the
mental health setting to prevent and manage potential blood clots, known as venous
thromboembolisms. Whilst the condition is not common in our older people with mental health needs,
the effects can be serious so prevention and early detection are essential.
We will support staff on the older peoples’ mental health wards to be effective in the prevention and
management of Venous Thromboembolism (VTE). We know that our policy and assessment tools are
designed for use in the physical health setting, so we will develop an extended screening tool that is fit
for purpose and supports staff in mental health inpatient teams. The screening is designed to be
undertaken for patients who are over 65 years of age so we will work with our older peoples mental
health wards to develop this work.
We will support the work to screen our adult inpatients for smoking status and offer stop smoking
medication supported by referral to smoke stop services for those who wish to quit. Those who are not
so sure about quitting will be offered advice on ways to stop if it is appropriate for them. Research has
shown that smoking cessation interventions are effective for hospitalised patients regardless of
admitting diagnosis and we want to offer this opportunity to our inpatients. (Rigotti N, Munafo MR,
Stead LF. Interventions for smoking cessation in hospitalised patients. Cochrane Database of
Systematic Reviews 2007; Issue3.Art.No.:CD001837.DOI:10.1002/14651858.CD001837.pub2).
We will screen our adult patients for alcohol consumption and offer advice or referral to specialist
services if that is appropriate. There are around 22,500 deaths per year which can be attributed to
alcohol consumption; although people may not be dependent on alcohol, their consumption puts them
at risk of heart disease, liver disease, cancer, depression or indeed accidental injury. It is proven that
identification and brief advice helps these people to reduce their weekly alcohol consumption by around
12%. Reducing regular consumption by any amount reduces the risk of ill health. We want to help any
of our adult inpatients reduce their risk of alcohol related illness.
http://www.hscic.gov.uk/catalogue/PUB13218/HSE2012-Ch6-Alc-cons.pdf

QUALITY IMPROVEMENT – SIGN UP TO SAFETY CAMPAIGN

Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust pledged a commitment to the three year NHS
England ‘Sign Up to Safety’ campaign in November 2014 and has made the following five pledges.
Put safety first

A commitment to reduce avoidable harm.

Continually learn

Acting on the feedback from patients and constantly measuring and
monitoring how safe services are.
Be transparent with people about our progress to tackle patient safety issues
and support staff to be candid with patients and their families if something
goes wrong.
Take a leading role in supporting local collaborative learning, so that
improvements are made across all of the local services that patients use.
Help people understand why things go wrong and how to put them right.
Give staff the time and support to improve and celebrate the progress.

Honest

Collaborative
Supportive
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The ‘Sign Up to Safety’ campaign vision brings all of the national safety work streams together under
one campaign. Dorset HealthCare developed a plan which incorporates nine ‘Sign up to Safety’ work
streams to reduce avoidable harm and save lives. Each work stream has a nominated lead, supported
by staff from a wide variety of services throughout the organisation. The Director of Nursing, Therapies
and Quality chairs the Safe Care steering group which meets quarterly to monitor progress against the
campaign action plan and a quarterly report is sent to the Executive Quality and Clinical Risk Group.
The tables below summaries progress against the nine work streams of national aims:
PRESSURE ULCERS
Aim: In 2017/18 reduce the number of hospital-acquired avoidable pressure ulcers reported in 2016/17
by 50%. In 2017/18 reduce the number of community-acquired avoidable pressure ulcers reported in
2016/17 by 20%.
There were eight inpatient avoidable pressure ulcers reported in 2017/18 against a threshold of seven.
Six of these relate to pressure ulcers on heels, one on a sacrum and one on an elbow. A Community
Hospital Support Programme has been put in place where there has been identification of avoidable
pressure ulcers.
To date there have been 30 community avoidable pressure ulcers reported, a 7.2% reduction. These
have occurred in 18 community nursing teams.
Key successes:
•

Positive evaluations of the training provision for clinical teams, one day and half-day training in
addition to ‘Deal with Heels’ workshops and Tissue Viability Nurse link advisors training
• Introduction and implementation of a single Trust-wide pressure ulcer risk assessment tool,
Purpose T
• Engagement from teams at all levels with the Root Cause Analysis Pressure Ulcer panels
• Implementation of Community Hospital Support Programme to areas where an avoidable
pressure ulcers is identified
• Trust engagement with the international STOP Pressure Ulcer Day
Going forward:
1. Update the Wound Management Educational Resource Folder and launch in conjunction with
the Pan Dorset Formulary; launch is due 01/04/2018, and launch events booked for April, May,
June and July 2018.
2. Pressure Ulcer Competencies and Workbook for all relevant clinical staff – delayed due to team
vacancy due for completion before end of Q1.
3. Review of referral form and referral process to Tissue Viability Service before end of Q1.
4. Wound Management Policy to support CQUIN to be completed Q1 2018/19.
5. Patient information leaflet about wounds to be completed Q1 2018/19.
6. Continued focus on prevention of heel related pressure ulcers during 2018/19
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PROMOTING POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE PRACTICE TO REDUCE RESTRICTIVE INTERVENTION
Aim: To create a culture where the need for restrictive practices are reduced and, when required, are
carried out in a safe, proactive and positive manner with 95% of patients experiencing seclusion/ rapid/
prone restraint to have evidence of de-escalation and full completion of physical observations by
December 2019.
Table below shows progress to date:
Total seclusions by quarter
Year

Quarter 1

Quarter 2

Quarter 3

Quarter 4

Total

2016/17

23

16

9

3

51

2017/18

21

31

29

27

108

Year

Total rapid tranquilisation by quarter
Quarter 1
Quarter 2
Quarter 3
Quarter 4

Total

2016/17

58

58

39

54

209

2017/18

36

40

57

61

194

Year

Total prone restraint by quarter
Quarter 1
Quarter 2
Quarter 3
Quarter 4

Total

2016/17

56

54

31

46

187

2017/18

36

50

67

66

219

There has been an increasing trend in all three areas of prone restraint, rapid tranquillisation and
seclusion. The majority of incidents reported occurred on the psychiatric intensive care unit whre
people are acutely unwell.
A quality improvement plan focussing on promoting positive and proactive practice was commenced in
quarter 3 which is ongoing.
Key successes:
• Quarterly ‘Complex Case Reviews’, including recurrent and multiple incidents reviewed by an
independent team
• Engagement with ‘Safewards’, promoting positive and proactive care
• Participation in the NHSI Engagement and Observation project saw improvements with
observation recording and with obtaining feedback from patient and staff of their experience
whist on or undertaking increased observations
• ‘Joy in Work’ project based on the framework developed by Institute for Health Care
Improvement
Going forward:
1. Further work is required to involve peer support workers with the reducing of restrictive
interventions on Haven Ward, St Ann’s.
2. Seek learning from Exploring current publications on how other organisations have succeeded
in reducing restrictive practice (CQC Publication on Restrictive Intervention in Dec 2017 and
other relevant publications).
3. Training for staff to improve confidence in de-escalation and conflict resolution and the use of
other psychological interventions.
4. Recruitment of Occupational Therapists and Psychologist for Haven Ward.
5. Work with ward teams to engage in Quality Improvement projects based on the reviewed Driver
Diagram.
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CARE PLANS
AIM: To improve quality of patient care plans by increasing collaboration and shared decision making
within Care Planning, Risk Assessment and Management in Mental Health.
There has been an improvement in the completion of the care plan audits quarter on quarter by mental
health inpatient wards.
The monitoring of the new wellbeing plan agreed prior to full implementation and is a mixture of
quantitative and qualitative measures.
One of the group’s objectives was to identify opportunities to streamline and improve recording in the
electronic patient record as part of the work stream. The new plan needs to improve collaborative care
planning with patients and the recording of these plans, and also reduce administration time for staff.
Key successes:
• New wellbeing plan template is part of the main care plan, incorporating crisis and contingency
plan and my crisis plan into one document
• Process for implementation of the new wellbeing care plan will be used
Going forward:
1. Complete the ongoing pilots of the new care plan in July and review staff feedback in August
2018.
2. Amend the wellbeing plan/guidance in line with pilot feedback and outcome before mobilising
change across all mental health and Learning & Development services.
3. Conclude the review of the clinical care plan library in time for full roll out of wellbeing plan.
4. Agree the process for use of the new plan for service users seen by medical staff / under
standard care in time for full roll out of wellbeing plan.
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SUICIDE PREVENTION
Aim: To reduce the number of suicides by 10% by the end of 2020.
Of the serious incidents reviewed between quarter 1 and quarter 4 2016/17 there were 18 suicides, one
narrative verdict, one accidental death and one open verdict. There are two inquests yet to take place
for 2016/17 incidents.
The time lag between a reported posssible sucicide and a coroner’s conclusion of sucide makes it
difficult to compare year on year figures in a timely manner. As at 31 March 2018 there have been 11
conclusions of suicide reported, 10 inquests are yet to take place and there are 23 still awaiting an
inquest date.
Key successes:
•
•
•
•
•

Revised Trust Clinical Risk Policy which is available to staff via the intranet
Development of the draft suicide prevention action plan aligned to the Pan Dorset Action Plan
and supports the national strategy
Daisy Chain Project has started to look at Section 136 process for patients who are not then
detained under the Mental Health Act
Process in place for all families to have been offered the opportunity to participate in
investigations following suicide
Consultant psychiatrist appointed in March 2018 as the new lead for the work stream

Going forward:
1. To participate in the NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) Pan Dorset Suicide
Prevention Strategy development and ongoing work.
2. With the new work stream lead in place, the group will review aims and further develop carer
involvement.
3. Review impact of the Retreats model being implemented in April 2018 to see impact on 10 ways
to improve safety.
4. Encourage Dorset CCG to lead Pan Dorset Suicide Prevention group
5. Share learning from suicides as part of the Pan Dorset Mortality Group
6. Review support available to staff in light of increased inquest activity
7. Consider how the Pre Inquest Review Process can assist with making contact with families
SAFE TRANSFER OF CARE
Aim: This work stream has looked at improving communication at the time of
admission/transfer/discharge. Focus has been on the improvement of the nursing handover process
and the use of clinical systems to enhance discharge information.
Key successes:
•

Mapping of the transfer processes for the east of Dorset as part of the Pan Dorset Transfer of
Care group
• Expanding the access to Single Point of Access referrals so that any patients waiting for a
community hospital bed can be seen by matrons as well as the ward
• Acute wards admission checklist/discharge check list/inter-ward transfer checklist has been
added to the clinical record for mental health services
Going forward:
1. Improve the timeliness of responses when a referral for admission is received
2. Campaign to discharge community hospital patients to be “home for lunch”, allowing admissions
from acute partners to occur before 18.00hours
3. Review of incidents regarding safety of transfer within secondary care services
4. Develop more collaborative working with the acute trusts in West, North and South Dorset,
reviewing transfer concerns and incidents
5. Links with the delayed transfer of care work stream
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FALLS
Aim: To reduce the number of falls resulting in harm by 10% Annually (as agreed with Dorset CCG in
2016).
The falls work stream has seen an overall reduction of 18% in the number of falls sustained that
resulted in injury, this includes both minor and moderate injury and is against an agreed reduction
trajectory of 10%. The number of patients who sustained a fall resulting in fracture in 2017/18 has
reduced by 44% compared to 2016/17.
An audit of inpatient community hospital wards completed in 2017/18 and findings supported the
learning being identified from Root Cause Analyses. These findings have led to:
1. A review of the current falls assessment.
2. Lying and standing blood pressure assessment guidance revised, posters circulated to all wards
and education delivered through the Falls Champions.
3. Q1 to Q3 lying and standing Blood Pressure had not been completed in 50% of incidents,
however in Q4 100% of incidents reviewed complied.
4. Introduction of vision assessment including guidelines and posters.
Key successes:
• Introduction of Multifactorial Falls Assessment (MFFA) tool, shared with Bournemouth University
who are using it in training with therapy and nursing students
• Audit of inpatient services and learning from Root Cause Analysis of falls
• Provision of 12 lifting aids which can be used by one person to lift someone up from the floor
• Monthly falls newsletter distributed to raise awareness of learning from falls, local and national
guidance
• Working with Bournemouth University as part of a six month project looking at balance and
exercise classes within the community to enable a pathway to access exercise classes from
NHS to the community providers.
Going forward:
1. Audit of falls in mental health
2. Better Balance Guidance to be completed and available to staff
3. Training plan for clinical staff via e-Learning to be developed
4. MFFA incorporation into IT clinical systems including SystmOne and RIO
SAFE MEDICATION
Aim: Reduce Medication Errors by 25% by January 2019
The average number of monthly medication incidents reported in 2016/17 was 85; the average number
of monthly medication incidents reported in 2017/18 was 50 – a 41% decrease. This reduction is
almost entirely attributable to the loss of the prison contract.
Key successes:
•
•
•

New community drug chart approved at the Medicines Management Group in December 2017
Development of a new Transdermal Patch administration chart, following an medication error
Response to Medicine and Health Care product Regulation Authority (MHRA) alert issued on
the safe prescribing of valproate in women of child-bearing potential
• Delivery of medicines management training via e-hub, face-to-face session and training
scenarios for Learning Disability team
• Involvement of Medicine Safety Office in Root Cause Analysis of incidents
• Medication Safety Thermometer tool implemented
• Medicines Safety Bulletins distributed to staff
• Review of the safe prescribing and administration of emergency drugs with the Trust’s
Resuscitation Officer
• Improvements to Insulin safety Trust-wide
Going forward:
1. Drive the uptake of Self Administration of Medicines across the trust, to include selfadministration of insulin
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DETERIORATING PATIENT AND SEPSIS
Aim: By May 2020, all patients under the care of the Trust who deteriorate are identified and have a
timely response.
The aim of the work stream was revised in July 2017 and the initial work has focused on the identifying
and reporting of incidents where patients within our care have experienced an unexpected deterioration
in their physical health.
In 2016/17 there were 159 deteriorating patient incidents reported all of which related to inpatients. The
group has looked at how data collection can be improved to help measure improvements within this
work stream. This includes classification and grading of incidents when patients deteriorate and a
review process to consider identification and early response to signs of deterioration.
In 2017/18 there have been a total of 287 deteriorating patient incidents reported, 252 incidents relate
to inpatients and 35 relate to community patients. This demonstrates an increased awareness in
reporting.
Key successes:
•

The level of action taken when indicated by the National Early Warning Score (NEWS) was
above 96%
• Deteriorating Patient Policy updated
• National Early Warning Score (NEWS) online training developed
• Reviews of emergency transfers into an acute hospital
• Patient Safety Manager working with the physical health team to review current working
practices and plan how these can be developed and embedded into practice to meet the
increasing physical needs of our mental health patients
Going forward:
1. Roll out of the Deteriorating Patient Review Process, to include community teams
2. Sepsis protocol for Urgent Care Centre’s to be agreed and launched
3. Deteriorating patient workshops to be relaunched
4. Development of an Acute Kidney Injury (AKI) pathway

Dorset HealthCare is affiliated to the Wessex Academic Health Science Network (AHSN) which works
in partnership with the local Patient Safety Collaborative (PSC), NHS Improvement (NHSI) and the
‘Sign Up to Safety’ campaign. The Institute of Healthcare Improvement (IHI) methodology is used by
each of these. Dorset HealthCare has been working towards embedding the IHI methodology by
continuing to deliver Quality Improvement (QI) training to clinical teams, enabling and supporting them
to deliver their own QI projects. This will be expanded and developed by the newly established
dedicated Quality Improvement Team going forwards.
In 2017/18 the Sign Up To Safety campaign aimed to improve the integration between physical and
mental health, striving to improve the physical health of our mental health patients. There has been a
drive to engage members of staff at all levels, within both physical and mental health, to join in the work
streams and work collaboratively.
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MORTALITY
During 2017/18 415 of Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust’s patients died.
This comprised the following number of deaths which occurred in each quarter of that reporting period:
101 in the first quarter

95 in the second quarter

119 in the third quarter

100 in the fourth
quarter
By 31 March 2018, 299 case record reviews and 35 investigations have been carried out in relation to
334 of the deaths included above.
In 0 cases a death was subjected to both a case record review and an investigation. The number of
deaths in each quarter for which a case record review or an investigation was carried out was:
76 in the first quarter
77 in the second quarter
105 in the third quarter
76 in the fourth
quarter.
Two representing 0.5% of the patient deaths during the reporting period are judged to be more likely
than not to have been due to problems in the care provided to the patient. In relation to each quarter,
this consisted of:
1 representing 0.9% for
0 representing 0% for the
1 representing 0.9% for
0 representing 0%
the first quarter
second quarter
the third quarter
fourth quarter
These numbers have been estimated using the Royal College of Physicians (RCP) structured
judgement tool of avoidability.
A summary of learning from case record reviews and investigations conducted in relation to the
three deaths judged avoidable using the Royal College of Physicians (RCP) are:
For the two deaths where problems in the care provided was identified using the Royal College of
Physicians (RCP) structured judgement tool of avoidability the following learning points were identified:
•
•
•
•
•

The need to obtain the patient’s previous clinical records and to involve the patient’s family and
General Practitioner in direct conversations in relation to the patient’s care and changes in
prescribing of medication
Information about the patient’s previous history would have had a direct influence on the
prescribing of medication
The need to obtain and review written handover information from external hospitals
Staff to adhere to the Trust policy for the prevention of venous thromboembolism
The need to ensure that care-coordinators are allocated when additional support and
interventions for mental health patients are required

Action plans have been produced to address the care and service delivery problems identified as part
of the root cause analysis investigations. This included record keeping audits with exception reporting
in place for care planning and risk assessments. These action plans are reviewed by the Executive
Quality and Clinical Risk Group and progress against these are reviewed by the Quality Governance
Committee.
The actions identified aim to assist in the reduction of unwarranted variation in practice in the areas to
provide safe and effective care for patients.
293 case record reviews and 1 investigation completed after 31/03/2017 which related to deaths which
took place before the start of the reporting period.
0 representing 0% of the patient deaths before the reporting period, are judged to be more likely than
not to have been due to problems in the care provided to the patient. This number has been estimated
using the After Death Analysis process. After Death Analysis (ADA) are undertaken following all deaths
in community hospitals and within the two Older Peoples Mental Health wards at Alderney Hospital. It
is best practice for the team undertaking the review to include the hospital Matron, Advanced Nurse
Practitioner (ANP), ward staff and the ward doctor.
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0 representing 0% of the patient deaths during 2016/17 are judged to be more likely than not to have
been due to problems in the care provided to the patient.
Learning Disability Death Reviews
DHC participates in the national Learning Disabilities Deaths Reviews. There are eight reviewers in
Dorset who are co-ordinated by the Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group and the reviews involve
families, carers and all professionals involved in the care of the person. Good practice and lessons
learnt are shared at the pan Dorset Steering Group. However there are challenges with reviewers
being able to complete reviews along with their current roles and responsibilities. Findings from these
reviews have made positive changes to the lives of people with learning disabilities, and none reviewed
so far have been considered avoidable.
CELEBRATING ACHIEVEMENT
Leg Ulcer Service marks its 20th anniversary
Our Leg Ulcer Service celebrated its 20th anniversary in style, with a conference at the Hamworthy
Club in Poole attended by more than 200 delegates. Guest speakers included Joy Tickle, a Tissue
Viability Nurse Specialist who has appeared on Channel 4’s ‘Embarrassing Bodies’ programme, and
independent wound care consultant Jacqueline Fletcher.
Locality Manager Sharon Powell closed the conference, and said: “There could not have been a better
way to celebrate 20 years of the service. The expert speakers covered many aspects of complex leg
ulcer care, providing useful updates and new information.”
The service had modest beginnings in 1997, when service manager Val Reynolds, then a district nurse,
won approval to run a specialist leg ulcer clinic from Shelley Road, Boscombe, for half an afternoon a
week. She began teaching at Bournemouth University the following year, and the service slowly began
to expand. It now has almost 30 staff – including nurses, healthcare assistants and administrative
workers – providing specialist assessments and care, including dressings, bandaging and advice.
There are clinics across the county, with a current weekly caseload of more than 200 people. The team
also provides training for district nurses, hospital staff, practice nurses and care home workers.

Val (pictured above, right, with Jacqueline Fletcher, International Speaker) said: “We are proud of our
healing rates but equally as important is ensuring we improve patients’ quality of life. The conference
celebrated our achievements so far, but also helped share good practice so we can improve in the
future.”
Dorset leads the way for patient experience in mental health
The Care Quality Commission (CQC) has rated Dorset HealthCare as one of the best in the country for
positive feedback received from mental health patients. The findings have been published in the
annual CQC Community Mental Health Survey 2017, and are based on feedback from 12,139 patients
who received care between September and November 2017, including 229 from Dorset.
Some 56 health care providers took part in the CQC survey, and the overall score for patient
experience was 7.5 and this was the highest trust score achieved. Compared to others, we rated
particularly well for crisis care achieving a score of 7.1. The highest trust score achieved was 7.3
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Chief Operating Officer Eugine Yafele said: “I am delighted to see such positive results in our annual
survey. The feedback we receive from people who have used our services is so important in helping us
continue to improve the support we offer. We shall be closely looking at areas of best practice, as well
as those where people have told us they would like to see more change, and using this to help inform
how we deliver services in the future.”
'Carer’s passport' gives extra support to hospital patients and staff
Carers can now spend more time alongside loved ones in our community hospitals, thanks to a new
scheme on the wards. We have introduced a ‘carer’s
passport’ system, giving people hospital access outside of
regular visiting hours and providing vital extra support to
patients as and when they need it.
The passport was piloted at Weymouth, Portland and St
Leonards hospitals. Initially open to carers of people with
dementia, it proved so successful it has been rolled out to all
12 community hospitals across Dorset. And it is now open to
anyone who cares for a relative, partner or friend with ongoing physical or mental health problems.
Under the system, carers identify themselves on arrival at the hospital and are given a badge, or
‘passport’, which allows them to stay beyond regular visiting hours providing reassurance and additional
help for the person they are caring for. Hospital staff welcome carers throughout the day and into the
evening, though overnight stays will be at the discretion of ward nurses.
Alison Low, Senior Sister on the Fayrewood Ward at St Leonards Hospital, said: “It makes a huge
difference to the care we can provide when we have inside knowledge of a patient from their loved one.
It helps us to meet their individual needs more effectively, and also gives the patient additional support
at what can be a difficult time.”

First Admiral Nurse Service launches in Dorset
Families living with dementia in Purbeck now have access to specialist
dementia support, thanks to incredible local fundraising efforts. Our
own Rachel Murray, an experienced registered nurse with wideranging knowledge of dementia care, has been appointed Dorset’s first
Admiral Nurse.
When things become challenging or difficult, Admiral Nurses work
alongside people with dementia, their families and carers, providing
one-to-one support, expert guidance and practical solutions.
The service was made possible following a year of tireless campaigning and fundraising by the
Dementia Friendly Communities in Swanage and Wareham. And they will work in partnership with the
charity Dementia UK and ourselves to ensure local families receive the help they need at the right time.
“I consider myself incredibly fortunate to be able to embrace this opportunity,” said Rachel. “It is an
honour to serve the Purbeck community and work collaboratively to help provide individual care and
support to those living with dementia.”
Pictured at the official launch event at Durlston Castle in Swanage are (from left), our Purbeck Locality
Manager Alison Tallant, Rachel Johnstone from Dementia UK, Admiral Nurse Rachel Murray and Dr
Hilda Hayo, Chief Admiral Nurse with Dementia UK.
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Improving end of life care
Brand new palliative care areas have opened at two of our community hospitals. Lord Julian Fellowes,
accompanied by his wife Lady Emma, cut the ribbon to unveil a modern and spacious £200,000 facility
on the first floor of Blandford Hospital’s Tarrant Ward.
The new unit provides a quiet, tranquil and warm environment for those entering the final days of their
life. It houses two large patient bedrooms with shower and toilet facilities, an activity area and family
room with kitchen and ensuite, as well as a small open air garden. Patients and staff helped to shape
the design of the unit, and additional televisions, artwork, furniture and equipment for the unit were
funded by the Friends of Blandford Hospital.
Lord Fellowes said: “To be able to pass away peacefully in comfortable surroundings with your family is
invaluable, and this new facility gives people this opportunity, which is fantastic.”
And at the Yeatman Hospital in Sherborne, Chairman of the League of Friends, David Hayes, opened
the Ada Kearvell Suite. The Friends of the Yeatman funded the reconfiguration of the Beech Ward, part
of the Willows Unit, to provide an extra patient bedroom with an ensuite wet area, soothing sensory
lighting, internet access and an adjacent sitting room for use by close relatives.
The £140,000 suite was named after the hospital’s longest-serving matron (from 1908-1934), who was
awarded the Royal Red Cross Medal by King George V in recognition of the exceptional care provided
to First World War veterans at the Yeatman. Matron Anne Hiscock said: “We are delighted to have this
additional facility and very grateful for the Friends’ support in transforming this space into something
that will be such a fantastic legacy for our future patients and relatives. We have already received
overwhelmingly positive feedback about it.”
The Willows Unit and Tarrant Ward are among five Dorset HealthCare sites accredited with the Gold
Standard Framework (GSF) for end of life care, the others being the Castletown Ward at Portland,
Wareham’s Saxon Ward and the Stanley Purser Ward at Swanage.
We’re in! Sports stars help showcase our Dragons’ Den project
A new initiative which encourages our staff to pitch innovative ideas for improving patient care has
netted the support of two famous local footballers. Former AFC Bournemouth keeper Jimmy Glass and
current Cherries ace Tyrone Mings attended a garden party at St Ann’s Hospital, in Poole, to unveil the
fruits of its Space for Growth project.
Space for Growth has provided specific garden spaces within the hospital grounds, in Canford Cliffs, to
help improve the health and wellbeing of patients, visitors and staff. These areas allow people to grow
vegetables, learn new skills, build new relationships and enjoy the outdoors.
Space for Growth was the first winning entry of Dorset HealthCare’s very own Dragons’ Den
competition, an idea based on the BBC’s popular TV show. Staff were encouraged to submit
imaginative ideas last year. A shortlist was then drawn up, and other staff voted for their favourites with
the four finalists then pitching their proposals to a panel of Trust senior managers and patient care
representatives. Space for Growth came out on top, and was awarded £2,000 to bring it to life.
Local businesses also supported the scheme, with Eco Sustainable Solutions, Dorchester Timber and
G. Burley & Sons generously contributing labour and materials to develop the garden plots. There were
also valuable donations from a host of local church and community groups.
St Ann’s provides assessment and treatment for a wide range of mental health illnesses. Research
indicates that recovery rates improve with social interaction and outdoor activities such as gardening.
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Senior Occupational Therapist Mel Harding and nurse Alison Rose devised Space for Growth with this
in mind, and led its development with support from hospital chaplain Rev. Mike Oates and local
volunteer Babs Plumbridge. Mel said: “It is really inspiring to start with an idea and a conversation, and
then bring it to life for the benefit of others. The project is ideal for aiding the transition of our service
users from inpatient back into the local community.”

'NHS Club 7' help the medicines go down
Harmonious healthcare staff showed they have the Xfactor in a bid to crack the charts. Only it’s not the Top
40 they were looking to conquer, but patients’ drug
charts, producing a pop video to help raise awareness
about medicines safety in its hospitals and out in the
community.
Staff recorded a new version of the S Club 7 classic
‘Reach’, with specially re-written lyrics to promote good
practice in administering medication. And the funpacked film of ‘Reach for the Charts’, which can be seen at https://youtu.be/OZZS-DC2Hsk was
viewed almost 2,500 times on YouTube™ and played at staff conferences and in training sessions
across Dorset.
The project, funded by the Wessex Academic Health
and Science Network was led by the Trust’s
Medication Safety Officer Katie Griffiths. “We
wanted to find a way to raise awareness of common
medication errors, such as missed doses, delays in
obtaining the right medication and not filling in drug
charts properly,” she explained.
“We chose ‘Reach’ because it was a catchy, upbeat
song, and it was fairly easy to re-write the lyrics.
Once we had the necessary permissions, we put a call out to staff for volunteer singers and
performers.”
Solent Creatives, a team of students from the media department at Southampton’s Solent University,
filmed the music recording session in Dorchester, before obtaining further footage at Bridport Hospital
and the Herm Ward at Alderney Hospital in Poole.
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BBC Radio spotlights our “extraordinary” Heroes!
Some of our 2017 staff Heroes Award winners were showcased during a special ‘Dorset HealthCare’
week on BBC Radio Solent’s Breakfast in Dorset show in the autumn.
A total of 14 staff and volunteers were honoured at our Annual Members’ Meeting in September, and
several were featured in a series of early morning broadcasts the following month.
Describing them as “extraordinary people who work or volunteer for the NHS”, the presenters
interviewed chef Greg Coomer, exercise instructor Nicki Jenks, Pain Service volunteer Carol Calf and
healthcare assistant Yasmin Kehru. There was also a special feature on the unique boxing sessions
run by The Fight Back Mental Health team in Weymouth, and the week concluded with a special
outside broadcast from Bridport Hospital.
Community Rehabilitation Team Lead Jon Kimber, Matron Jane Turner and members of the Catering
Team were among those interviewed live by reporter Laurence Herdman during the show, along with
Heather Purse from the League of Friends. Everyone gave a fantastic impression of Dorset HealthCare
and the work we do.
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DUTY OF CANDOUR
Health professionals must be open and honest with patients when things go wrong. This is also known
as the Duty of Candour. Candour is defined in Robert Francis’ report as: “The volunteering of all
relevant information to persons who have or may have been harmed by the provision of services,
whether or not the information has been requested and whether or not a complaint or a report about
that provision has been made.”
The Duty of Candour is a legal duty on hospital, community and mental health trusts to inform and
apologise to patients if there have been mistakes in their care that have led to significant harm. The
Duty of Candour aims to help patients receive accurate, truthful information from health providers. All
NHS provider bodies registered with the Care Quality Commission (CQC) have to comply with the
statutory Duty of Candour.
As a Trust we are committed to being open with patients and carers when events such as these occur
so that we gain a shared understanding of what happened, and what we can do to prevent it from
happening again.
The Patient Safety Team and the Learning and Development team have developed an animated duty of
candour video. This has been available to all staff on the intranet site since October 2017. Locality
managers and matrons have received notification about the video to disseminate to their staff.
Duty of candour training occurs as part of the pressure ulcer prevention and management training and
Root Cause Analysis Training on a regular basis.
Training to individual teams is being delivered where a need is recognised or requested by the team.
All patient safety incidents reported that result in moderate harm or above are investigated and the
investigation process includes involvement of the patient and carers where possible. In those incidents
where Duty of Candour has been identified due to an act or omission by the Trust, the locality
managers have a responsibility to manage the Duty of Candour process and ensure the process is
carried out in line with the prescribed steps. They are also responsible for liaising with patients/service
users and their family and confirming what action is being taken.
The Medical Director and Director of Nursing, Therapies and Quality are also available to meet with
families and their carers to discuss the care and treatment of their family member.
The table below shows the number of times we have invoked Duty of Candour and the types of
incidents.
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STATEMENTS OF ASSURANCE FROM THE BOARD
Mandatory Statement One:
During 2017/18 the Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust provided and/or
sub-contracted 104 relevant health services.
The Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust has reviewed all the data available
to them on the quality of care in 104 of these relevant health services.
The income generated by the relevant health services reviewed in 2017/18 represents 93.71
percent of the total income generated from the provision of relevant health services by the
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust for 2017/18.

Review of Services
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust is responsible for community and mental health
services across Bournemouth, Poole and Dorset. The Trust also provides Steps to Wellbeing services
in Southampton. The Trust serves a population in excess of 787,000 people, employing some 5,793
substantive staff with an income of £246,622,000. Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust
provides 104 services and has reviewed them in the following ways:
The Board
The Board receives a monthly integrated corporate dashboard which sets out performance across a
range of quality metrics under the domains of safe, effective, caring, well-led and responsive. The
dashboard includes exception reports where further information is provided to explain performance and
actions being taken to improve the position.
The Board also receives annual reports in respect of patient experience, complaints, safeguarding and
infection prevention and control.
The Board receives a patient story at each meeting.
The Quality Governance Committee
The Quality Governance Committee, which meets every other month, receives reports on:
•
•
•

Serious incidents requiring investigation
Progress with recommendations following review of serious incidents requiring investigation
Inpatient staffing level assurance.

The Audit Committee
The purpose of the Committee is to acquire and scrutinise assurances during the year as to the integrity
of the Trust’s principal disclosure statements, including financial statements. This is carried out by
scrutinising assurances on the design and operation of controls. The Committee will acquire and
scrutinise assurances relating to the following:
•
•
•

Annual Governance Statement relating to the system of internal control, which may include
letters of representation;
Annual Report and Accounts, with accounting policies, and Notes to the Accounts;
Compliance with the Monitor Licence and, in particular, the Corporate Governance
Statement;
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•
•

Annual disclosures in relation to the Code of Governance for NHS Foundation Trusts;
To set and agree the internal audit plan and review the findings and recommendations of the
reports received.

Mental Health Legislation Assurance Committee
The Committee, which meets quarterly, is the specialist arm of the Quality Governance Committee.
The Committee receives a quarterly dashboard on Mental Health Act compliance metrics.
Executive Quality & Clinical Risk Group
The monthly meeting of the Group receives reports on:
• Moderate, major and catastrophic incidents
• A summary of reviewed serious incidents, falls and pressure ulcers
• Screening incidents and reports
• A staffing level assurance report
• Clinical Risks
• Mortality governance
• Clinical audit plan progress.
Director Visits
Underpinning the formal reporting to groups is a system of director visits to Trust services and sites.
Information relating to patient experience
Regular performance reports to the Trust Board incorporating measures on patient experience
including: percentage of patients that felt safe, Friends and Family Test (FFT) scores, compliments and
complaints.
Reports to the Board, Quality Governance Committee, Executive Quality and Clinical Risk Group:
• National and local service user survey results
• Real time feedback
• Quarterly Patient Experience report
• Quarterly Complaints Board report (available on the Trust Website)
• Annual compliments and complaints reporting including lessons learnt (available on the
Trust website).
In addition the Trust Non-Executive Directors have undertaken a combination of announced and
unannounced visits to the wards and units.
The Trust continues to use Quality of Interaction Schedule (QUIS) (Dean, Proudfoot & Lindesay 1993),
a well-regarded observational technique to capture patient experience. QUIS pioneered by the Patient
Association is a systematic way of observing the quality of interactions of care between staff and
patients. It is an additional way of capturing patient experience, pioneered to understand the care
experiences of people who are unable to tell us themselves. Observations are recorded if the
interaction was positive, basic care/neutral care or negative care. Feedback is given directly to the
manager at the time of observation. The observations are carried out for a forty minute period.
Feedback overall is collated and a written account is produced to share with staff and wider to see if
there is any further learning.
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Information relating to patient safety
A range of reports are sent to the Board, Quality Governance Committee, Executive Quality and Clinical
Risk Group, including;
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Incident report included within the monthly directorate reports
Moderate Harm and Above Incidents monthly report
Early Warning Trigger Tool and Quality, Effectiveness and Safety Trigger Tool reports
Central Alerting System compliance reports
Safety Thermometer reports
Quarterly report of serious incident recommendations and progress
Quarterly safeguarding children and vulnerable adult report
Six-monthly National Reporting and Learning Service Cluster Report
Quarterly and Annual Sign Up To Safety reports
Clinical Risks.

Information relating to clinical effectiveness
Regular performance reports to the Board incorporating measures on clinical effectiveness include:
•
•
•
•

The number of inpatients having an annual physical health check
The percentage of patients screened for malnutrition
The percentage of patients screened for Venous Thromboembolism (within 24 hours of
admission)
The number of falls that have resulted in harm to a patient.

Reports to the Board, Quality Governance Committee and, Executive Quality and Clinical Risk Group,
include:
•
•
•
•

Monthly reporting on compliance with NICE Technology Appraisals and Guidelines
Report on the annual clinical audit programme
Quarterly Mortality Report
Monthly report on Care Quality Commission action plans.
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PARTICIPATION IN CLINICAL AUDITS AND NATIONAL CONFIDENTIAL ENQUIRIES

Mandatory Statement Two:
During 2017/18, 15 national clinical audits and 2 national confidential enquiries covered
relevant health services that Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust provides.
During that period Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust participated in 100%
national clinical audits and 100% national confidential enquiries of the national clinical
audits and national confidential enquiries which it was eligible to participate in.
The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that Dorset HealthCare
University NHS Foundation Trust was eligible to participate in during 2017/18 are as follows:

National Clinical Audits
Elective Surgery (National PROMs Programme)
Falls and Fragility Fractures Audit programme (FFFAP)
Learning Disability Mortality Review Programme (LeDeR)
National Audit of Anxiety and Depression (Pilot audit)
National Audit of Diabetes - Adults
National Audit of Intermediate Care (NAIC)
National Audit of Psychosis
National Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Audit programme (COPD)
National End of Life care audit
POMH Topic 1g & 3d Prescribing High Dose and Combined Antipsychotic
POMH Topic 17a Use of depot/LA antipsychotic injections for relapse prevention
POMH Topic15b Prescribing Valproate for Bipolar Disorder
POMH Topic 16b Rapid Tranquilisation in the context of the pharmacological
management of acutely-disturbed behaviour
Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme
UK Parkinson’s Audit
National Confidential Enquiries / Inquiries
Children and Young People’s Mental Health
National Confidential Inquiry into Suicide and Homicide (NCISH)
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Mandatory Statement Two continued:
The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that Dorset HealthCare
University NHS Foundation Trust participated in during 2017/18 are as follows.

National Clinical Audits
Elective Surgery (National PROMs Programme)
Falls and Fragility Fractures Audit programme (FFFAP)
Learning Disability Mortality Review Programme (LeDeR)
National Audit of Anxiety and Depression (Pilot audit)
National Audit of Diabetes - Adults
National Audit of Intermediate Care (NAIC)
National Audit of Psychosis
National Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Audit programme (COPD)
National End of Life care audit
POMH Topic 1g & 3d Prescribing High Dose and Combined Antipsychotic
POMH Topic 17a Use of depot/LA antipsychotic injections for relapse prevention
POMH Topic15b Prescribing Valproate for Bipolar Disorder
POMH Topic 16b Rapid Tranquilisation in the context of the pharmacological
management of acutely-disturbed behaviour
Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme
UK Parkinson’s Audit
National Confidential Enquiries
Children and Young People’s Mental Health
National Confidential Inquiry into Suicide and Homicide (NCISH)
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Mandatory Statement Two continued:
The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that Dorset HealthCare
University NHS Foundation Trust participated in, and for which data collection was
completed during 2017/18, are listed below alongside the number of cases submitted to each
audit or enquiry as a percentage of the number of registered cases required by the terms of
that audit or enquiry.

Participated

Number of
cases
submitted

% cases
submitted

Yes

120

99 %

(FFFAP)
Learning Disability Mortality Review Programme

Yes

80

100%

(LeDeR)

Yes

22

N/A

National Audit of Anxiety and Depression (Pilot)

Yes

13

65% *

National Audit of Diabetes - Adults

Yes

613

100%

National Audit of Intermediate Care (NAIC)

Yes

21 services

N/A

National Audit of Psychosis

Yes

70

70% *

Yes

50

100%

Yes

98

N/A

Yes

86

N/A

Yes

60

100%

Yes

60
Number of
cases
submitted
2 complete

100%

National Clinical Audit

Elective Surgery (National PROMs Programme)
Falls and Fragility Fractures Audit programme

National Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease
Audit programme (COPD)
POMH Topic 17a Use of depot/LA antipsychotic
injections for relapse prevention
POMH Topic15b Prescribing Valproate for Bipolar
Disorder
Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme
UK Parkinson’s Audit
National Confidential Enquiries / Inquiries

Participation

Children and Young People’s Mental Health

Yes

5 partial
National Confidential Inquiry into Suicide and
Homicide (NCISH)

Yes

22

% cases
submitted
41% **
96%

* Numbers affected by difficulties identifying relevant cases for sample.
** First time this type of study in MH Services has been undertaken and national submission rates are
low.
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Mandatory Statement Two continued:
The reports of 14 national clinical audits were reviewed by the provider in 2017/18 and Dorset
HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve
the quality of healthcare provided:

Following completion of a national audit an initial action plan will be proposed by the nominated Audit
Lead. The action plan will then be reviewed and agreed by Clinical Effectiveness group.
Trust-wide audit action plans will then be monitored by the Clinical Effectiveness Group. Exception
reporting on a quarterly basis will occur at this group.
Audits reports and action plans will also be shared with other appropriate groups as appropriate to
maximise shared learning opportunities.

Mandatory Statement Two continued:
The reports of 36 local clinical audits were reviewed by the provider in 2017/18 and Dorset
HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to
improve the quality of healthcare provided:

Following completion of a local audit, an initial action plan will be proposed by the Audit Lead. The
action plan will then be reviewed and agreed by the relevant Locality meeting.
Local audit action plans will be monitored by the nominated Audit Lead and will be reported on to the
Locality quarterly or as necessary.
Results will be discussed at Locality Management Group meetings and will then be cascaded to staff
via the relevant manager.
Audits reports and action plans will also be shared with other appropriate groups as appropriate to
maximise shared learning opportunities.
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PARTICIPATION IN CLINICAL RESEARCH

Mandatory Statement Three:
The number of patients receiving relevant health services provided or sub-contracted by
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust in 2017/18 that were recruited during
that period to participate in research approved by a Research Ethics Committee 1250.

Dorset HealthCare’s research and development function has continued to promote participation in
clinical research in 2017/18, greatly expanding the number of people participating and expanding areas
of the Trust engaging in research activity. Research helps the NHS to improve the quality of care and
the future health of the population. The continued participation and expansion in clinical research
demonstrates the Trusts commitment to improve the quality of care offered to users of the services it
provides.
This year the Trust has developed its research activity expanding into a number of new areas including
mindfulness in primary care mental health, physiotherapy in spinal stenosis and genetics in the onset of
childhood psychosis. This has occurred alongside further research in the areas of dementia looking at
how improving balance could reduce falls and in mental health looking at patient preferences in the
psychological help they receive.
The Trust opened its first commercial research study in October 2017 with inVentiv Health, a global
company which supports research programmes and drug development, in dementia and recruited the
first participant to the study within the 35 day target set nationally.
We have seen studies completed, such as the evaluation of peer-supported self-management for
relatives of those with bi-polar disorder which has led to new tools to support carers which will become
available to the NHS over the next year.
The Trust has continued to support non-portfolio research led by its own staff as well as studies
adopted on-to the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) portfolio. This investment and support
has enabled Trust staff to develop both their interest and skills in the development and delivery of
research. It has also created a greater number of opportunities for patients and carers to join in
research. Examples of the types of studies are;
•

Developing learning tools for community nurses to develop excellence in safeguarding practice
for those at risk of financial abuse/scamming through evidence based learning
• Mental Health Nurses' knowledge of adverse events related to anti-psychotic medications
• The role of self-compassion in wellbeing and burn-out among learning disabilities professionals
• Improving balance in those with dementia using Tai Chi
• Examining whether the addition of a patient and carer skill sharing intervention improves longterm patient wellbeing following hospital treatment for anorexia nervosa
This expansion has been mirrored by the continued embedding of strong research governance systems
within the Trust which following internal audit of the research function was judged to provide substantial
assurance to the Trust.
Collaborative Working
The Trust views collaboration with other organisations in the research field as essential to increasing
the opportunities for patients and carers to participate in research and for staff to gain experience of
research. In light of this the Trust works in collaboration with other NHS Trusts, Dorset CCG, Primary
Care and Bournemouth University to develop Dorset as an attractive area to carry out research and to
promote opportunities for research across the patient pathway and between organisations.
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The Trust won the Wessex NIHR 2017/18 ‘Outstanding achievement in research’ award for
collaborative work with Dorset County Hospital on a study looking at rehabilitation following knee
surgery (CORKA). This study investigated how providing the option of rehabilitation in their own home
rather than having to return to the hospital to people undergoing knee replacement surgery impacts on
outcomes.
However as the Trust does not provide knee surgery we could not participate in this study but clinicians
and the R&D team recognised the potential benefits for patients and staff of participation. The R&D
team and clinicians from the Trust approached colleagues in Dorset County where knee surgery is
carried out and negotiated an agreement in principle to work together to submit an expression of
interest to the study sponsors at Oxford.
The Clinicians and team worked with Dorset County Hospital and Oxford to ensure the study could
open despite the obstacles to there being two different organisations working as a single site and
successfully opened the study in Dorset in 2017. The study progressed well and recruited the target
number of participants and did so in the time allocated by the sponsor.
The clinical staff involved in the study also acquired an enhanced skills set through the training they
received from the study team and this is now available to patients in Dorset. The Wessex NIHR awards
committee in presenting the award recognised the flexibility, creativity and sheer hard work required to
set up and run the study across organisations and that without this level of collaboration the patients in
Dorset could not have had access to this ground breaking research.

Left to right: Ciarán Newell, Susan Dowdle, Hazel Burt, Kerry Ashton, Kim Meldrum, Brandon Bule,
joined by three colleagues from Dorset County Hospital, Andrew Rees, Simon Sharpe and Chris
Squires with Nathan Hawker from DHC
Within Wessex the Trust has worked closely with other Mental Health/Community providers, such as
Southern Health NHS Foundation Trust and Solent NHS Trust, on research studies which have
involved more than 350 people.
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The Trust has maintained its links with national research centres such as Kings College London and the
Maudsley Hospital expanding the range of research that can be accessed by those who use our
services an example being;
•

Does adding patient and carer skills training to interventions after inpatient admission for
anorexia improve outcomes for patients and families?

We have expanded the number of universities we collaborate with in research projects, for example the
Trust now has studies with the universities of Manchester, Oxford, Sussex, Newcastle, Nottingham and
University College London. The Trust continues to have close links with Bournemouth University and
staff collaborate in research with academic staff at Bournemouth such as genetic counselling in
psychiatric disorders and how to improve motivation to attend assessments in eating disorders. The
Trust continues its support of a NIHR fellow research development programme looking into falls
reduction in dementia with Bournemouth University and Southern Health NHS Foundation Trust.
Two members of Trust staff have been successfully supported to attain research development
internships. One staff member secured a grant of £10,000 and is working with Bournemouth University
on the use of therapeutic touch in fibromyalgia. The other secured a grant of £20,000 and is working
with Southampton University in the area of loneliness and frailty. Both of these projects are being
carried out with the staff members’ area of clinical practice and the funds enable backfill for them to
complete the research. Both projects will complete in 2018.
The Trust also ensures regular participation in and support of the National Institute for Health Research
(NHIR) Wessex team and its functions supporting research across the Wessex region.
Research studies
During 2017/18 the Trust participated in 27 research studies both portfolio and non-portfolio studies and
a total of 1250 participants across both types of studies. The Trust publishes its performance in
research on its website quarterly in line with Government guidance. The Trust has recruited 1233
participants into NIHR portfolio research studies. This is a fourfold increase, from 279 last year, in
people participating in research and exceeds the Trust target set by the NIHR by over 600. The Trust’s
performance in successfully increasing its recruitment figures year on year has led to investment from
the NIHR being maintained and enables the Trust to support capacity to deliver research.
Going forward
The Trust has maintained momentum and enthusiasm for clinical research and the plan is to continue
to develop its clinical research activity and capacity. Now that commercial research has started the
Trust will expand its commercial research portfolio in the coming year. The income generated from
commercial research activity will hasten the growth of the research capacity of the Trust and greatly
increase the opportunity for patients and carers to participate in clinical research within our services.
We are also looking in collaboration with Bournemouth University at opportunities for Trust staff to
engage in research through the vehicle of match funded PhD studentships. These studentships enable
the staff member to continue clinical work two days a week whilst working in research the other three
days and securing their PhD. Two particular areas of research which the Trust is working on are the
developments in mental health care in Dorset and the identification and assessment of contractures in
older people. The Trust will contribute with the other NHS organisations, social care and Bournemouth
University to the promotion of Dorset as a place to carry out research.
The Research Strategy agreed by the Trust Board covering the years 2016-2019 will also be reviewed
in the coming year and will refresh the aims and the objectives of the Trust with a focus on increasing
research activity across more services by more Trust staff thus enabling more patients and carers who
use our services to access quality research.
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Mandatory Statement Four:
A proportion of Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust income in 2017/18 was
conditional upon achieving quality improvement and innovation goals agreed between Dorset
HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust and any person or body they entered into a
contract, agreement or arrangement with for the provision of relevant health services,
through the Commissioning for Quality and Innovation payment framework.
Further details of the agreed goals for 2017/18 and for the following 12 month period are
available electronically at: https://www.england.nhs.uk/nhs-standard-contract/cquin/cquin-17-19/

The 2017/18 CQUIN programme saw the introduction of projects spanning two years. The total
value of schemes reported during 2017/18 was £5.1m and included contractual arrangements with:
•
•
•
•
•

Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)
NHS England – Specialised
NHS England – Dental
Dorset County Council – Public Health
NHS England – Public Health

Although the Dorset County Council scheme was not an official NHS CQUIN, it was included in the
programme as its performance incentive payment mirrored the NHS schemes.
There was also a small amount of CQUIN income agreed with NHS Wiltshire and NHS West
Hampshire which was reliant on successful achievement of the Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group
schemes but did not have specific additional deliverables commissioned.
The progress of CQUIN targets was monitored on a monthly basis. Reports were provided monthly to
the Executive Performance and Corporate Risk Group, quarterly to the Trust Board and discussed
regularly with commissioners.
At the end of Quarter 4, the RAG statuses were as follows:
Closed (Completed all milestones required)

=

1

Green (On track)

=

3

Amber/Green (work in progress-expected to deliver)

=

5

Amber (reduced confidence in delivery)

=

6

Red (Off track)

=

2

The projects RAG rated Red were due to the following issues:
•

•

CQUIN 3a (Improving Physical healthcare to reduce premature mortality in people with SMI:
Cardio Metabolic Assessment and treatment for Patients with Psychoses) concerns have
arisen due to issues around diagnosis, methodology and processes. Additional work has
been carried out to begin to overcome this but this will not be counted towards the CQUIN.
CQUIN 3b (Collaboration with primary care clinicians): Due to the lack of an automated
system, it is not possible to share the information in the required format as outlined in this
CQUIN. Dorset CCG is aware of these difficulties.
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Scheme
RAG

Deliverable
1. NHS Staff health and wellbeing
1a Improvement of health and wellbeing of NHS staff
1b Healthy food for NHS staff, visitors and patients
1c Improving the uptake of flu vaccinations for frontline staff within Providers

A
G
A

3. Cardio and metabolic assessment and treatment for patients with psychoses
R

3a Improving physical healthcare to reduce premature mortality in people with SMI: Cardio
Metabolic Assessment and treatment for Patients with Psychoses
3b Collaboration with primary care clinicians
4. Improving services for people with mental health needs who present to A&E

R
A/G

Reduce by 20% the number of attendances to A&E for those within a selected cohort of
frequent attenders who would benefit from mental health and psychosocial interventions,
and establish improved services to ensure this reduction is sustainable
5. Transitions out of Children and Young People’s Mental Health Services (CYPMHS)

A/G

This CQUIN aims to incentivise improvements to the experience and outcomes for young
people as they transition out of Children and Young People’s Mental Health Services
(CYPMHS)
8b Supporting proactive and safe discharge – community providers
Actions to map existing discharge pathways, roll-out new protocols, collect
baseline/trajectories
9 Preventing ill health by risky behaviours – alcohol and tobacco
9a Tobacco screening
9b Tobacco brief advice
9c Tobacco referral and medication offer
9d Alcohol screening
9e Alcohol brief advice or referral
10 Improving the assessment of wounds
The indicator aims to increase the number of wounds which have failed to heal after 4
weeks that receive a full wound assessment
11 Personalised care and support planning
To be delivered over two years with an aim of embedding personalised care and support
planning for people with long-term conditions
NHSE - Specialised
Reducing the Length of Stay (LoS) in Specialised Mental Health services (Medium and
Low Secure version)
Reducing the Length of Stay (LoS) in Specialised Mental Health services (CAMHS
services)
NHSE - Dental
Managed Clinical Networks
DCC - Public Health - Health Visiting
1. Improved data collection and reporting
2. Implementing the integration of Health Visiting with LA Provision for 0-5's
DCC - Public Health - School Nursing
School Nursing
NHSE - Public Health (TBC)
Immunisation

A

A

A/G

A

A/G
A/G
A
C

G
G
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Mandatory Statement Five:
Registration with the Care Quality Commission (CQC)
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust is required to register with the Care
Quality Commission and its current registration status is ‘without restrictive
conditions’.
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust has the following conditions on
registration ‘licensed to provide the following regulated activities’:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Personal care
Termination of pregnancies
Family planning
Treatment of disease, disorder or injury
Assessment or medical treatment for persons detained under the Mental
Health Act 1983
Surgical procedures
Diagnostic and screening procedures

The Care Quality Commission has not taken enforcement action against Dorset
HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust during 2017/18.

Meeting Care Quality Commission Fundamental Standards
The Trusts overall rating by CQC is ‘good’. The CQC award ratings based on a combination of what
they find at inspection, what people tell them, data they collect and local information provided by the
Trust. The ratings are awarded on a four point scale;

CQC Ratings
Outstanding

The service is performing exceptionally well.

Good

The service is performing well and meeting our
expectations.

Requires

The service isn't performing as well as it should and
we have told the service how it must improve.

improvement
Inadequate

The service is performing badly and we've taken
action against the person or organisation that runs it.

Page 40 of 86

CQC use five key questions in their assessment of quality each one having equal weight. A rating is
awarded for each question and our overall rating for each one is shown below.
Domain

Overall Rating

Are services safe?

Requires improvement

Are services effective?

Good

Are services caring?

Good

Are services responsive

Good

Are services well-led?

Good

RAG

During 2017/18 CQC changed the way they carry out inspections now that all Trusts have received a
comprehensive inspection. Using information gathered from external data sources, and data submitted
by the Trust, CQC will inspect certain core services followed by an inspection of well led at trust level. It
is intended this will be an annual process once established.
Between 13 and 17 November 2017, the CQC carried out planned inspections of 8 core services areas:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Acute wards for adults of working age and Psychiatric Intensive Care Unit (PICU)
Crisis and health based place of safety (HBPoS)
Learning disability services
Community-based mental health services for adults of working age (Adult CMHT)
Community-based mental health services for older people (CMHT OP)
Community health inpatient services
Community health services for children, young people and families
End of life care services

The inspection of core services was followed by the well-led inspection which took place from 4 to 8
December 2017.
The draft report was received on 27 February 2018 for review by the Trust and we had an opportunity
to make any comments about factual accuracy. The final report was published on 13 April 2018.
The Trust’s overall rating has improved from ‘requires improvement’ to ‘good’.
The table below shows the ratings by core service and arrows indicate where the rating has changed
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TRUST RATINGS 2017/18 BY CORE SERVICE AND QUALITY DOMAIN
Effective

Caring

Responsive

Well-led

Overall

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good
Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Outstanding

Good
Outstanding

Good

Outstanding

Outstanding

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Requires
Improvement

Requires
Improvement

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Outstanding

Outstanding

Good

Good

Outstanding

Community health services for adults

Requires
Improvement

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Community health services for children, young
people and families

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Community health inpatient services

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

End of life care

Good

Good

Outstanding

Good

Good

Good

Urgent Care Services

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Acute wards for adults of working age and
psychiatric intensive care units (PICU's)
Long stay/rehabilitation mental health wards for
working age adults
Forensic inpatient / secure wards
Child and adolescent mental health wards
Wards for older people with mental health problems
Community-based mental health services for adults
of working age
Mental health crisis services and health based places
of safety
Specialist community mental health services for
children and young people
Community-based mental health services for older
people
Community mental health services for people with a
learning disability or autism
Forensic Community

Safe
Requires
Improvement
Requires
Improvement
Good
Good
Requires
Improvement
Good
Requires
Improvement
Requires
Improvement
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The CQC report noted that the senior team had led a very effective programme of improvement which
had resulted in the majority of issues previously found being addressed. Communication across the
Trust had improved with the Board and senior managers being more visible to staff. There was
noticeable improvement in the culture across the Trust with increased openness and transparency and
a clear desire in staff at all levels to learn and improve.
The CQC report states that the trust’s senior leadership team have the skills, knowledge, experience
and integrity necessary for successfully overseeing a large, complex organisation. They saw evidence
of excellent leadership at all levels across the trust with many dedicated, compassionate staff who
strive to deliver the very best care for patients.
The inspectors saw a clear focus on supporting both the physical and mental health of patients,
regardless of whether the service they were accessing was primarily for their physical or mental health
needs. Staff found innovative ways to enable people to manage their own health and care.
Pebble Lodge the child and adolescent mental health ward was noted as having met all the
requirements from the last inspection and the staff had gone above and beyond what was required in
making the changes. There was a strong emphasis on young people being part of the community.
They raised money for a chosen charity each month and the work they had done with this allowed them
to volunteer at certain sites such as a farm. There were universally positive reports about the staff from
both children and their parents or carers.
Many staff who spoke with the CQC inspectors expressed pride in working for the trust and felt they are
valued and able to raise concerns freely and without fear of retribution in what they felt is an
atmosphere of openness. Staff reported that the trust has developed a culture of learning and
improvement without apportioning blame.
The CQC found that there are three regulations in four services resulting in nine actions that we must
take, and there are 36 should do actions. The ‘should do’ actions are areas for improvement but do not
represent a breach in regulations.
The ‘must do’ actions relate to
1. Community Health Inpatient Services
2. Acute Wards for Adults of Working age and PICU
3. Mental Health Crisis Services and HBPoS
4. Specialist Community Base Mental Health Services for Children and Young People
The change in ratings for each domain is shown below:
Domain

Rating

Change

Safe

Requires improvement

Same

Effective

Good

Improved

Caring

Good

Same

Responsive

Good

Improved

Well-led

Good

Improved
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Mandatory Statement Seven:
Registration with the Care Quality Commission
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust has participated in special reviews or
investigations by the Care Quality Commission relating to the following areas during 2017 /
18 ‘system of services that support children and young people’s mental health.’ Dorset
HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following action to address
the conclusions or requirements reported by the Care Quality Commission:
Work with our partners and the Dorset Health and Wellbeing Board to strengthen the
mental health system to make sure that children, young people and their families and
carers have timely access to high quality mental health care.
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust has made the following progress by 31
March 2018 in taking such action
We are working with our partners to review the provision of care across the county
and improve access to mental health services.

In October 2017 we took part in the CQC independent review of the system of services that support
children and young people’s mental health. The report published in March 2018 drew on evidence
gathered from fieldwork in 10 health and wellbeing board areas and Dorset was one of them in
England, during which CQC spoke with children, young people, parents, families, carers and staff
working across the system, reviewed local policies and plans, and tracked how individual children and
young people moved through the system.
The report makes recommendations for action at national level, regional level as well as local actions.
The full report can be found at http://www.cqc.org.uk/publications/themed-work/are-we-listening-reviewchildren-young-peoples-mental-health-services

Staff Survey

Each year NHS Staff are offered the opportunity to give their views on the range of their experience at
work by completing a staff survey questionnaire. This year the questions are grouped around nine key
themes, which include 32 key findings, summarised from 98 questions. The nine themes are:
• Appraisals and support for development,
•

Equality and diversity,

•

Errors and incidents,

•

Health and wellbeing,

•

Job satisfaction,

•

Managers,

•

Patient care and experience,

•

Violence, harassment and bullying,

•

Working patterns.
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Overall in the 2017 staff survey, there is an improvement across 68% of 32 key findings; a decline
across 16% of key findings and 16% of key findings remained the same. Ten of the key findings
showing improvement (31% overall) are statistically significant. Our overall staff engagement score has
had a statistically significant improvement from 3.88 in 2016 to 3.91 in 2017. Our response rate in 2017
has also improved from 47% in 2016 to 49% in 2017.
Improvements of 3% or more for specific questions, compared to 2016 scores, are:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

My organisation treats staff who are involved in an error, near miss or incident fairly
When errors, near misses or incidents are reported, my organisation takes action to ensure that
they do not happen again
I would recommend my organisation as a place to work
If a friend or relative needed treatment I would be happy with the standard of care provided by
this organisation
I have adequate materials, supplies and equipment to do my work
How satisfied are you with the extent to which the organisation values your work?
Communication between senior management and staff is effective
Senior managers here try to involve staff in important decisions
Senior managers act on staff feedback
My immediate manager encourages those who work for her / him to work as a team
I receive regular updates on patient / service user experience feedback in my directorate /
department (e.g. via line managers or communications teams)
Feedback from patients / service users is used to make informed decisions within my directorate
/ department
How satisfied are you with the opportunities for flexible working patterns?

Key finding areas which demonstrate further action to be taken are:
•
•
•
•

Percentage of staff appraised in the last 12 months (90%) was lower than the national average
for similar Trusts (92%)
Staff reporting errors, near misses or incidents witnessed in the month prior to completing the
survey (91% compared to the national average for similar Trusts of 92%)
Percentage of staff/colleagues reporting most recent experience of violence (84% compared to
the national average for similar trusts of 88%)
Percentage of staff/colleagues reporting most recent experience of harassment, bullying or
abuse (55% compared to the national average of 57%).

A specific reporting requirement is our performance against two particular indicators detailed below:
Percentage of staff experiencing harassment, bullying or abuse from staff in the last 12 months
18% of our staff expressed that they had experienced harassment, bullying or abuse from other staff
during the 12 months prior to completing the survey, a decrease from the previous year’s score of 20%.
The national average for similar Trusts is 20%.
We are working to continue to improve this indicator, with a series of actions to further embed our Trust
Behaviours Framework, building on the NHS values, setting out what we should expect of ourselves
and each other.
Our 5 behaviours are:
•

Supportive
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•
•
•
•

Reliable and trustworthy
Positive
Proactive
Respectful

These behaviours have been integrated into our recruitment processes, all elements of training and
leadership development, and development of a managers toolkit to support our line managers to help
us to create an environment where people feel valued and where everyone is proud to work for Dorset
HealthCare. They enable us to challenge such behaviours which can be perceived as bullying,
harassment or abuse from other staff.
Percentage of staff believing that the trust provides equal opportunities for career progression
or promotion
The Trust’s score for staff believing we provide equal opportunities for career progression or promotion
is 91%, which is the same as our score for 2016. The national average for similar Trusts for this
indicator is 86%. The highest score for similar Trusts is also 91% so we match or set the highest level
for a Trust of our type.
Overall, the survey shows very positive improvements but it also highlights important areas where staff
want the Trust to be much better. It is really important for staff to feel that Dorset HealthCare is a great
place to work if we are to achieve our ambitions for delivering the best possible care to the people of
Dorset. Individual staff and teams are at their best when they feel valued and supported and it is clear
that we still have much more to do before all staff feel so positive.
Our Organisational Development Team are providing specific local reports for every Directorate and
locality / service area, which will be discussed with each of the teams and local action plans developed.
Staff views are important and the 2017 Staff Survey reports have been published on the Trust’s intranet
and publicised in the Weekly Roundup. Throughout 2018 the Communications Team will periodically
publish “You said - we did” bulletins to share with staff the actions the Trust is taking on the survey
findings.
The survey results have been sent to directors to enable them to carry out staff briefings and to
consider actions for specific groups and directorates.
The Equality and Diversity Group will be considering equality areas. A particular area of concern and
for attention is how staff with a disability have a less favourable experience of work compared with staff
without a disability. The Equality and Diversity steering group have set up a support group for
employees experiencing disability issues to try and improve experiences.
In addition, the survey results will receive attention at the Trade Union Partnership Forum, the Health
and Safety Committee, and Security Advisory Group, and the Trust Board, where they will receive the
full results at the end of March, and a follow up report in May to describe the actions so far.
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Mandatory Statement Eight:
Quality of data
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust submitted records during 2017/18 to
the Secondary Uses service for inclusion in the Hospital Episode Statistics which are
included in the latest published data. The percentage of records in the published data:

Which included the patient’s valid NHS Number was:
•
•
•

99.05% for admitted patient care;
99.98% for outpatient care; and
N/A for accident and emergency care.

Which included the patient’s valid General Medical Practice Code was:
•
•
•

100% for admitted patient care;
100% for outpatient care; and
N/A for accident and emergency care.

Mandatory Statement Nine:
Information Governance (IG)
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust Information Governance Assessment
Report overall score for 2017/18 was 66% and was graded ‘Green’ from the Information
Governance Toolkit Grading Scheme.
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Mandatory Statement Ten:
Payment by results
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust was not subject to the Payment by
Results clinical coding audit during the reporting period by the Audit Commission.

The Trust’s Clinical Coding Department was audited by the external auditors D&A Clinical Coding
Consultancy Limited on 19th – 21st of February, 2018. The Trust achieved a score of level 3 which is
the highest score in the audit.
Fifty episodes of care were audited for Mental Health and one hundred episodes of care for Community
Health. The one hundred episodes for community health included patients admitted for rehabilitation as
well as the specialities General Surgery, Oral Surgery, Trauma and Orthopaedics, Gynaecology,
Urology, General Medicine and Gastroenterology.
Within the mental health services a high standard of coding was demonstrated, the coding of comorbidities has again improved since the last audit.
Within the community health services, although the discharge was lacking in information to aid the
coding process, it was timely and the coders utilise the system well to compensate for the lack of
information resulting in a high standard of coding.
A more detailed breakdown of the audit is shown below.
Mental Health

Community Health

90%

97%

92.16%

98.6%

Primary Procedure

N/A

97.9%

Secondary Procedure

N/A

100%

Primary Diagnosis
Secondary Diagnosis

It should be noted that the results of the external audit should not be extrapolated further than the
actual sample audited.
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Mandatory Statement Eleven:
Payment by results
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust will be taking the following
actions to improve data quality:
•
•
•
•
•

Coders to ensure that cannabis use is only coded to drug use unless indicated
as harmful or dependence by the Clinician
Care to be taken when inputting codes
Coders to ensure that all relevant and mandatory co-morbidities are extracted
and coded
The coding of obesity to be agreed and a local coding policy created
Discussions with clinicians to improve the content of the discharge letter.
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PERFORMANCE AGAINST THE KEY NATIONAL PRIORITIES – QUALITY INDICATORS 2017/18
The following table provides an overview of the Trust performance against a core set of indicators set by the Department of Health and Monitor. Data
relates to the end of 2016/17 and the end of 2017/18 as published on the Health and Social Care Information Centre website.
Prescribed Indicator

The data made available to the NHS
Foundation Trust by NHS Digital with
regard to the percentage of patients
on Care Programme Approach who
were followed up within 7 days after
discharge from psychiatric inpatient
care during the reporting period.

National
average
2016/17
At the time
of reporting,
national
data is
unavailable

DHC 2016/17
Position

Comparison
with other
Trusts
Highest – 100%

Q1: 97.8%

Lowest – 0%

Q2: 99.0%
Q3: 97.5%

National
average
2017/18
Not Yet
available:
Published by
NHS Digital in
June 2018

DHC 2017/18
Position

Q1: 94.6%
Q2: 97.74%
Q3: 93.41%

Comparison
with other
Trusts
Not Yet
available:
Published by
NHS Digital in
June 2018

Q4: 96.48%

Q4: 97.9%
Year-end 98.1%

Year-end
95.68%

The Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following reasons:
This data is taken directly from the RIO (electronic patient records) and is audited daily to check accuracy.
The Dorset Healthcare University NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following action to improve this percentage, and so the quality of its
services, by continuing to follow up patients within seven days of discharge.
The Indicator remains above required thresholds and is actively monitored. Dorset Healthcare continue to maintain this position and report any
variances via the Directorate Management Groups.
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Prescribed Indicator+

The data made available to the NHS
Foundation Trust by NHS Digital with
regard to the percentage of
admissions to acute wards for which
the Crisis Resolution Home Treatment
Team acted as a gatekeeper during
the reporting period.

National
average
2016/17

At the time
of reporting,
national
data is
unavailable

DHC 2016/17
Position

Q1: 98.32%
Q2: 98.92%

Comparison
with other
Trusts

National
average
2017/18

Comparison data
with other Trusts
is not available

At the time of
reporting,
national data is
unavailable

Q3: 100%

DHC 2017/18
Position

Q1: 100.00%
Q2: 98.00%

Comparison
with other
Trusts

Comparison
data with other
Trusts is not
available

Q3: Indicator
Removed

Q4: 98.26%
Q4: Indicator
Removed

The Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following reasons:
This is being regularly monitored and staff have been reminded of the requirements to involve the Crisis Service in assessments prior to a
person being offered a hospital bed to help decide if an admission may be avoided through additional support at home. Since the review of
this indicator in 2013/14, clinical staff are continuously reminded of how to record in a consistent manner.
The Dorset Healthcare University NHS Foundation has taken the following action to improve this percentage, and so the quality of its
services, by: The Indicator remains above required threshold of 95% and has now been retired. Local monitoring continues.
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Prescribed Indicators

The data made available to the NHS
Foundation Trust by the NHS Digital
with regard to the percentage of
patients aged –

National
average
2016/17

DHC 2016/17
Position

Not Yet
Available

4%

Comparison
with other
Trusts
Highest - 40%

(Monthly position Lowest – 0%
as at March
2017)

National
average
2017/18

DHC 2017/18
Position

Comparison
with other
Trusts

Not Yet
Available:
Published by
NHS Digital
June 2018

10.34%

Not Yet
Available:
Published by
NHS Digital
June 2018

0 to 151; and
16 or over,
readmitted to a hospital which forms
part of the trust within 28 days of being
discharged from a hospital which
forms part of the trust during the
reporting period.
The Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following reasons:
Data extracted directly from SystmOne™ (Patient Clinical System) with rules applied following discussions with the responsible teams.
The Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve this percentage, and so the quality of
its services, by: Continuing to ensure effective discharge planning to minimise the risk of re-admission. Information is available at ward level to
inform decision makers connected with service improvement.

1

The Trust does not report for patients under the age of 18, this does not form part of the current compliance or risk assessment framework guidance for
Foundation Trust’s.
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Prescribed Indicators

National
average
2016/17

DHC 2016/17
Position

Comparison
with other
Trusts

National
average
2017/18

DHC 2017/18
Position

Comparison
with other
Trusts

7.3
Highest: 8.1
National
7.9
About the same
National
The data made available to the NHS
average data is
average
Foundation Trust by NHS Digital with
Lowest: 6.9
not available
data is not
regard to The Trust’s ‘Patient
available
experience of community mental
health services’ indicator score with
regard to a patient’s experience of
contact with a health or social care
worker during the reporting period.
The Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following reasons: Data provided by the CQC.
The Trust has seen an increase of 0.6 in the health and social care worker key theme of the survey in 2017; increasing from 7.3 in 2016/17 to 7.9 in
2017/18 on a 10 point scale. The Trust continues to perform on a par (about the same2) with other trusts which took part in the survey.
The health and social care worker section score of 7.9 is made up of the following, a comparison against last year’s score and national information is
included below.
Question

2017 Scores for
Dorset HealthCare

Lowest trust score

Highest trust
score

2016 Results for
Dorset HealthCare

Did the person or people you saw listen carefully to you?

8.5

7.2

8.7

7.9

Were you given enough time to discuss your needs and
treatment?
Did the person or people you saw understand how your mental
health needs affect other areas of your life?

7.6

6.2

8.1

7.4

7.6

5.8

7.8

6.7

2

‘About the same’ is the wording used by the CQC. It is based on a statistic called the 'expected range' which determines the range within which the trust's score could fall without differing
significantly from the average, taking into account the number of respondents for each trust and the scores for all other trusts.
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The Trust results show an improvement in scores across all questions compared to the previous report, although remaining within the ‘about the same’
range when compared to other trusts nationally. The CQC’s statistical release report, published in November 2017, stated that nationally the 2016
survey showed that many people who use services were experiencing poor quality care. The 2017 survey found overall that there has been little or no
improvement across many of the areas covered by this survey, despite this, around two-thirds of respondents reported a positive experience of overall
care and the vast majority of respondents (97%) said that they knew how to contact the person in charge of their care if they had concerns. A higher
proportion of respondents this year (71%, up from 68% in 2015) also knew who to contact out of hours if they were experiencing a crisis.
The Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve this score, and so the quality of its
services, by:
The Acute Care Pathway is the largest system wide review of Mental Health Services across Dorset. This transformation project is currently
underway and is redesigning how Mental Health Services are designed, commissioned and delivered. This has been developed using a coproduction method of NHS and lived experience expertise and country wide consultation with people who use services. The first part of the
redesign ‘The Retreat’ is scheduled to open in late April 2018 and will be a pilot approach to further system redesign and service delivery. The
services designed as part of the ACP will specifically address feedback that services needed to be more accessible, especially in times of crisis.
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Prescribed Indicators

The data made available to the NHS
Foundation Trust by NHS Digital with
regard to the number and, where
available, rate of patient safety
incidents reported within the Trust
during the reporting period, and the
number and percentage of such
patient safety incidents that resulted in
severe harm or death.

National
average
2016/17

DHC 2016/17
Position

Comparison
with other
Trusts

National
average
2017/18

1.1% from
NRLS
cluster data
with 0.06%
for DHC
from
October 1
2016 to
March 31
2017 (most
up to date
data
available)

6446 patient
safety incidents
reported (57% of
all incidents).

Below average
for the rate of
patient safety
incident that
resulted in
severe harm or
death (currently
– to be confirmed
with end of year
data)

1% from NRLS
cluster
data with 0.6%
for DHC April
1st 2017–
September 30th
2017

39 patient safety
incidents (0.60%)
resulted in
severe harm (4)
or death (35)
from internal
incident reporting
data April 1 2016
- March 31 2017.

DHC 2017/18
Position

Comparison
with other
Trusts

6,602 patient
safety incidents
reported (62% of
all incidents).

Below average
for the rate of
patient safety
incidents that
resulted in
severe harm or
death

58 patient safety
incidents (0.9 %)
resulted in severe
harm (11) or
death (47)
From internal
incident reporting
data April 1 2017
to March 2018

The Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following reasons:
The Trust’s reporting rate (per 1,000 bed days) was the fifth highest (out of 53 trusts) at 79.16 with the median reporting rate being 42.43 within the
mental health reporting organisations reporting to the National Reporting and Learning System (NRLS). The levels of severe harm or death continue to
be below the comparison data provided by the NRLS report (April 2017 to September 2017). There has been a 0.3% (based on current data) increase
in the percentage of incidents reporting severe harm or death on the previous year (2016/17) within the Trust’s internal incident reporting data.
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The Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust has taken / intends to take the following actions to improve this percentage, and so the quality
of its services. Investigations are carried out for patient safety incidents of moderate harm and above and learning from these reviews are incorporated
into the Sign up to Safety work streams and shared via the Directorate Management and Locality meetings. Summaries of learning children and adult
safeguarding reviews are shared via the learning pages that have been developed on the intranet available to all staff and are incorporated in to the
training provided to staff. Multiagency learning events have been held with DHC staff, social care and the police. A weekly report of all deaths is
reviewed by the Patient Safety Team, Director of Nursing Thearapies and Quality and the Medical Director to ensure that the investigation approach
identified is appropriate to the nature of the incident. We have trained 9 staff in the Learning Disability Mortality review process as part of the Bristol
University project. We have reviewed the National Guidance on Learning from Deaths and developed an action plan and published our mortality
data. The Trust worked with Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group in developing the Dorset co-produced local suicide prevention action plan which
supports the national suicide prevention strategy. There is both an internal and pan Dorset Mortality Review group which consider learning from
unexpected deaths from natural causes.

Prescribed Indicators

The data made available to the NHS
Foundation Trust by NHS Digital with
regard to Early Intervention in
Psychosis (EIP): people experiencing
a first episode of psychosis treated
with a NICE-approved care package
within two weeks of referral (year-end
position for this indicator has been
reviewed by PWC
)

National
average
2016/17

DHC 2016/17
Position

Comparison
with other
Trusts

National
average 2017/18

DHC 2017/18
Position

Comparison with
other Trusts

Q1: 81.8%
Q1: 54.55%
Not Available

Q2: 62.71%

Not Available

Q3: 77.27%

Not Yet
Available:
Published by
NHS Digital June
2018

Q4: 96.88%

Q2: 88.3%
Q3: 64.71%
Q4: 74%

Not Yet Available:
Published by
NHS Digital June
2018

Year end

77%
The Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following reasons:
This data is taken directly from the RIO (electronic patient records) and is audited daily to check accuracy.
The Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve this score, and so the quality of its services, by:
The Indicator remains above required thresholds and is actively monitored. Dorset Healthcare continue to maintain this position and report any
variances via the Directorate Management Group.
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Prescribed Indicators

National
average
2016/17

DHC 2016/17
Position

Comparison
with other
Trusts

National
average
2017/18

DHC 2017/18
Position

Comparison with
other Trusts

The data made available to the NHS
Foundation Trust by NHS Digital with
regard to ensure that cardio-metabolic
assessment and treatment for people
with psychosis is delivered routinely in
Not an element of the Single Oversight Framework
Reported figure to be sourced from local audit in June
the following service areas:
2018
a) inpatient wards
b) early intervention in psychosis
services
c) community mental health services
(people on care programme approach)
The Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following reasons:
No figures to comment on
The Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve this score, and so the quality of its services, by
No figures to comment on

Page 57 of 86

Prescribed Indicators

The data made available to the NHS
Foundation Trust by NHS Digital with
regard to improving access to
psychological therapies (IAPT):
b) waiting time to begin treatment
(from IAPT minimum dataset):
i. within 6 weeks of referral

ii. within 18 weeks of referral

a) proportion of people completing
treatment who move to recovery (from
IAPT dataset)

National
average
2016/17

DHC 2016/17
Position

Not Available

Q1: 90.36%
Q2: 87.50%
Q3: 85.74%
Q4: 84.42%

Not Available

Q1: 100.00%
Q2: 100.00%
Q3: 99.81%
Q4: 99.72%

Not Available

Indicator
introduced
2017/18

Comparison
with other
Trusts

National
average
2017/18

DHC 2017/18
Position

Comparison with
other Trusts

Not Available

Not Yet
Available:
Published by
NHS Digital
June 2018

Q1: 78.25%
Q2: 81.76%
Q3: 87.15%
Q4: 91.70%

Not Yet Available:
Published by NHS
Digital June 2018

Not Available

Not Yet
Available:
Published by
NHS Digital
June 2018

Q1: 99.67%
Q2: 99.74%
Q3: 99.70%
Q4: 98.80%

Not Yet Available:
Published by NHS
Digital June 2018

Not Available

Not Yet
Available:
Published by
NHS Digital
June 2018

Q1: 53.62%
Q2: 55.27%
Q3: 53.34%
Q4: 53.80%

Not Yet Available:
Published by NHS
Digital June 2018

Q3: 53.39%
Q4: 56.56%

The Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following reasons:
This data is taken directly from the IAPTuS (electronic patient records) and is audited to check accuracy.
The Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve this score, and so the quality of its services, by
The Indicator remains above required thresholds and is actively monitored. Dorset Healthcare continue to maintain this position and report any
variances via the Directorate Management Group.
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Prescribed Indicators

The data made available to the NHS
Foundation Trust by NHS Digital with
regard to admissions to adult facilities
of patients under 16 years old

National
average
2016/17

DHC 2016/17
Position

Comparison
with other
Trusts

National
average
2017/18
Not Yet
Available:
Published by
NHS Digital
June 2018

Not a reported indicator

DHC 2017/18
Position

Comparison
with other
Trusts

Q1: 0
Q2: 0
Q3: 0

Not Yet Available:
Published by
NHS Digital June
2018

Q4: 0
The Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following reasons:
The Indicator remains above required thresholds and is actively monitored.
The Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve this score, and so the quality of its services, by
Dorset Healthcare continue to maintain this position and report any variances via the Directorate Management Group.
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Prescribed Indicators

National
average
2016/17

The data made available to the NHS
Foundation Trust by NHS Digital with
regard to inappropriate out-of-area
placements for adult mental health
services

DHC 2016/17
Position

Comparison
with other
Trusts

Not a reported indicator

National
average
2017/18

DHC 2017/18
Position

Comparison with
other Trusts

Not Yet
Available:
Published by
NHS Digital
June 2018

Not Yet
Available:
Published by
NHS Digital
June 2018

Not Yet Available:
Published by NHS
Digital June 2018

The Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following reasons:
Not Yet Available: Published by NHS Digital June 2018
The Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve this score, and so the quality of its services, by
Not Yet Available: Published by NHS Digital June 2018
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Prescribed Indicators
The data made available to the NHS
Foundation Trust by NHS Digital with
regard to the Trust’s patient reported
outcome measures scores for
(i)

Groin hernia

(ii)

Varicose vein surgery

(iii)

Hip replacement surgery, and

(iv)

Knee replacement surgery,

During the reporting period.
EQ Visual Analogue Scale (EQ VAS) is a
thermometer style scale. Patients are
asked to indicate their general health on
the scale with 0 being the worst and 100
being the best.
The average adjusted health gain is the
difference between the patients’ pre and
post-operative scores, a negative score
would denote that an individual’s health
has deteriorated.
The EQ-5D health questionnaire asks
patients to classify their health based on
self-assessed levels of problems (“no”,
“some”, “extreme” in the following five
areas: mobility, self- care, usual activities,
pain/discomfort and anxiety/depression.

National
average
2016/17

DHC 2016/17
Position

Comparison
with other
Trusts

National
average
2017/18

DHC 2017/18
Position

EQ-5D Index
Average
adjusted health
gain (April-Sept
2016): 0.089

EQ-5D Index
Average
adjusted health
gain (April-Sept
2016): 0.087

EQ-5D Index
Lowest
adjusted health
gain (April-Sept
2016): 0.016

EQ-5D Index
Average
adjusted health
gain (April-Sept
2017): 0.089

Less than 30
Questionnaires
reported,
therefore not
calculated.

EQ-5D VAS
Average
adjusted health
gain (April-Sept
2016): -0.116

EQ-5D VAS
Average
adjusted health
gain (April-Sept
2016): 0.266

EQ-5D Index
Highest
adjusted health
gain (April-Sept
2016): 0.162

EQ-5D VAS
Average
adjusted health
gain (April-Sept
2017): -0.132

EQ-5D VAS
Lowest
adjusted health
gain (April-Sept
2016): -4.646
Highest
adjusted health
gain (April-Sept
2016): 3.115
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Comparison with
other Trusts

EQ-5D Index
Lowest adjusted
health gain (AprilSept 2017): 0.042
EQ-5D Index
Highest adjusted
health gain (AprilSept 2016): 0.145
EQ-5D VAS Lowest
adjusted health
gain (April-Sept
2017): -6.119
Highest adjusted
health gain (AprilSept 2017): 4.247

The Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following reasons:
The Trust undertakes a relatively small number of operations at three of its Community Hospitals. The patients are carefully screened for surgery in a
community hospital and are therefore relatively otherwise healthy individuals whose scores for health state are generally high on the first assessment.
The Trust continues to monitor all PROMS data on an ongoing basis.
The Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve this score, and so the quality of its services,
by continuing to regularly review detailed patient level data to identify issues/trends which may impact on patients’ health following surgery and take
action if issues are identified.
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PART THREE
REVIEW OF QUALITY PERFORMANCE
QUALITY INDICATORS 2017/18
This section of our Quality Report highlights how we have performed as a Trust against a core set of
national quality indicators and indicators of quality agreed by the Trust Board. Our indicators have
changed from those used in 2016/17 and the following table provides an overview of the reasons for
these changes.
QUALITY DOMAIN

INDICATOR

REASON FOR CHANGE

Patient Experience

As an partner agency we will
adopt the Pan Dorset Carers
Strategy

Dorset HealthCare achieved
these indicators in 2016/17
and will continue to embed
processes going forward

Reduce the number of
unnecessary emergency transfers
from inpatient settings to acute
hospitals

Dorset HealthCare will
continue this work as part of
our Sign up to Safety
Campaign deteriorating
patient work streams

Communicate vital signs and
National Early Warning Score
(NEWS) at the point of transfer to
other care settings following
deterioration

Dorset HealthCare achieved
this indicator in 2016/17. The
Trust will take forward the
NEWS2 as an indicator for
2018/19

Development of a Trust and Pan
Dorset mortality reporting and
review process

Dorset HealthCare achieved
this indicators in 2016/17 and
will continue to embed
processes going forward

Reduce risk to patients by
ensuring all inpatients receive
timely venous thromboembolism
(VTE) preventative management
(prophylaxis)

Dorset HealthCare will
continue to embed processes
taking this indicator forward in
2018/19

Support staff to provide optimal
end of life care, by the right
person, in the right place and at
the right time

Dorset HealthCare achieved
this indicator in 2016/17 and
will continue to embed
processes going forward

Support staff to undertake robust
Clinical Audit aligned to National
Standards, as a quality
improvement initiative, to drive up
the quality of care

Dorset HealthCare achieved
this indicator in 2016/17 will
continue to embed processes
going forward

Patient Safety

Clinical
Effectiveness
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PROGRESS WITH OUR QUALITY INDICATORS 2017/18
Patient Experience
Indicator:
Complete a self-assessment against the 6 standards developed by the Carers Trust for all mental
health inpatient and Crisis Teams
•

The Carers Trust representing the Triangle of Care Scheme awarded Dorset HealthCare its
first star following submission of self-assessment against the 6 standards

Indicator:
Develop an action plan to address areas which were not rated as green in the self-assessment
•
•
•

Action plans have been developed for areas not rated green
Action plans are monitored at the Carers Leads Meeting
The action plans are ‘live’ documents which will evolve as the Triangle of Care programme
proceeds

Indicator:
Develop an implementation plan to roll out the Triangle of Care across our community mental health
teams
•
•
•
•

Community Mental Health Teams (CMHT) (adults), Older People Mental Health and Children
and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) identified Carers Leads
A Carers Lead role description stating the expectations of the role was developed
Leads underwent training to equip them to undertake their roles as Carers Leads
CMHT participation in Triangle of Care was launched at a’ Learning Set’ in October 2017
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Patient Safety
Indicator:
Identify treatments / interventions that could be provided in house in line with the competency
framework
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Generic competencies have been developed for physical health clinical roles Band 6-8
Role specific competencies have been developed for mental health inpatient Band 6 and 7
Development of mental health Band 5 competency framework, which includes identification of
the deteriorating patient and management of a patient with diabetes
Competency framework linked to annual appraisal
Four Registered Mental Health Nurses (RMN) participating in the Wessex Health Education
England trailblazing credentialing mental health course
Safer Caring Interventions for Older People (SCIOP) training to support community hospital
teams to care for patients who are agitated and confused
Physical Health offer to mental health inpatients
Physical Health clinics for mental health inpatients
Smoking cessation training for staff to support the smoke free site programme

Indicator:
Improve working across inpatient and community boundaries for specific interventions
•
•
•
•
•

All Dorset care providers use the catheter record which is held by the patient enabling staff to
manage the patients’ needs regardless of setting
County wide programme to reduce gram negative bloodstream infections
District nursing project to support mental health wards by providing skills and training to teams.
The mental health teams are in turn able to provide advice and support for district nurses who
have patients with cognitive impairments or mental health issues on their caseloads
Physical health link nurse allocated to each mental health inpatient ward
Trust collaboration with the CCG Sepsis Focus Group

Indicator:
Reduce Emergency Department attendance at Poole Hospital NHS Foundation Trust of our mental
health inpatients
•
•
•
•
•

Collaborative working with Poole Hospital NHS Foundation Trust Emergency Department
reviewing Dorset HealthCare mental health inpatient attendances
Recruited a General Practitioner for a mental health inpatient site
Recruitment of Registered General Nurse (RGN) for two mental health wards
Patient Safety Manager providing clinical support to the Mental health physical support team,
enabling upskilling and outreach to some mental health wards
Safer Caring Interventions for Older People (SCIOP) training to mental health community
hospital staff
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Clinical Effectiveness
Indicator:
Ensure all staff have access to relevant knowledge, training and support from other Trust services to
be able to manage challenging behaviour in patients
•
•
•
•

Monthly Dementia Steering Group provides development and support to the Trust’s dementia
champions
Role description for dementia champions developed
Training, Tier 1, 2 and 3 training developed relevant to role involvement and contact with
dementia patients who may have challenging behaviours
Specific training sessions ‘Managing Challenging Behaviours’ and ‘Prevention and
Management of Violence and Aggression’

Indicator:
Embed John’s Campaign, Carers Passport in our community hospitals
•
•

•
•
•
•

John’s Campaign resource literature circulated to all community hospitals
SystmOne™ (Trust’s electronic health record) supporting standardisation of recording carers
related information. A dedicated field has been incorporated within the patient record to
facilitate recording of passports offered. This will enable us to monitor uptake of the carers
passports and provide further support to teams if needed.
In March, 22 carers passports are recorded on SystmOneTM as being offered to carers.
Integrated working with the Triangle of Care scheme
Trust website and Trust internal website pages developed to support the implementation of
John’s Campaign
Carers Pledge in place

Indicator:
Community hospital wards signed up to the Quality Mark for Elder Friendly Hospital Wards to
complete work out lined in their action plans
•
•

Five wards awarded the Royal College of Psychiatrist Quality Mark for Elder Friendly Hospital
Wards
Four wards completed stage 1 data collection now working on their action plans and will
progress to stage 2 in September 2018
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A&E maximum waiting
time of 4 hours from
arrival to admission /
transfer / discharge
Maximum 6-week wait
for diagnostic
procedures
Care Programme
Approach (CPA)
patients receiving follow
up contact within seven
days of discharge from
hospital.
CPA patients having
formal review within 12
months

Year End
Position

98.13%

Q4 March
18 Position

97.83%

Q3 Dec 17
Position

Q2 Sept 17
Position

Q4 March
17 Position

Q1 June 17
Position

Referral to treatment
waiting times (patients
on an incomplete
pathway) (the year end
position for this indicator
has been reviewed by
PwC
)

Target threshold
values

March 16
position

Monitor Mandatory
Service Targets –
Compliance framework

March 15
Position

Performance against key national quality indicators

SOF performance
indicator:
98.13%

97.51%

99.98%

99.96%

98.04%

97.80%

96.99%

97.70%

92% <18 weeks

SOF performance
indicator:

Not applicable to the Trust

95% <4 hours
SOF performance
Indicator: 99%

99.88%

99.43%

99.71%

99.18%

99.59%

96.92%

97.63%

97.9%

95.83%

97.74%

93.41%

96.48%

95.68%

96.63%

95.80%

95.5%

97.04%

95.14%

93.97%

94.61%

95.04%

SOF
performance
Indicator:
95%
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Early intervention in
Psychosis (EIP): People
experiencing a first
episode of psychosis
treated with a NICE
approved care package
within two weeks of
referral. . (The year end
position for this indicator
has been reviewed by
PwC
)
Ensure that cardiometabolic assessment
and treatment for people
with psychosis is
delivered routinely in the
following service areas:
a) inpatient wards
b) early intervention in
psychosis services
c) community mental
health services (people
on care programme
approach)

100.00%

98.00%

SOF performance
indicator: <=1

1

2

1

0

2

1

3

6

SOF performance
indicator 50%

Indicator
introduced
part year
2015/16

71.67%

96.88%

81.82%

86.67%

64.71%

74%

75%

SOF Performance
Indicator: 90%

Indicator introduced 2017/18
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Year End
Position

98.26%

Q4 March
18 Position

97.45%

Q3 Dec 17
Position

99.12%

Q4 March
17 Position

SOF performance
indicator: 95%

March 16
position

Q2 Sept 17
Position

C.difficile – meeting the
C.difficile objective

Q1 June 17
Position

Admissions to inpatient
services had access to
Crisis Resolution /
Home Treatment Teams

Target threshold
values

March 15
Position

Monitor Mandatory
Service Targets –
Compliance framework

Indicator removed from SOF

Awaiting annual audit figure. Expected June/July 2018

0

0

Indicator introduced Q4 2017/18

Year End
Position

Q3 Dec 17
Position

0

Q4 March
18 Position

Q2 Sept 17
Position

Q4 March
17 Position

March 16
position

Indicator introduced 2017/18

Q1 June 17
Position

Admissions to adult
facilities of patients
under 16 years old
Inappropriate out-ofarea placements for
adult mental health
services
Improving access to
psychological therapies
(IAPT):
• People with
common mental
health conditions
referred to IAPT
programme will be
treated within 6
weeks of referral
• People with
common mental
health conditions
referred to IAPT
programme will be
treated within 18
weeks of referral
• Proportion of people
completing
treatment who
move to recovery

Target threshold
values

March 15
Position

Monitor Mandatory
Service Targets –
Compliance framework

0

0

Expected
June/July
2018

0

SOF performance
indicator: 75%

90.98%

84.42%

78.25%

81.76%

87.15%

91.70%

84.73%

SOF performance
indicator: 95%

99.87%

99.97%

99.67%

99.74%

99.70%

98.80%

99.70%

53.62%

55.27%

53.34%

53.80%

53.92%

SOF Performance
Indicator: 50%

Indicator introduced 2017/18
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HOW TO CONTACT US
LET US KNOW WHAT YOU THINK
We hope that our Quality Report has been informative and interesting to you. We welcome feedback,
along with any suggestions you may have for next year’s publication. Please get in touch with:
The Director of Nursing, Therapies and Quality
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust
Trust Headquarters
Sentinel House
4-6 Nuffield Industrial Estate Nuffield Road
Poole Dorset
BH17 RB
Email: Dawn.dawson4@nhs.net
JOIN US AS A MEMBER AND HAVE YOUR SAY IN OUR FUTURE PLANS
A representative and meaningful membership is important to the success of the Trust and gives
members of our local communities the opportunity to be involved in how the Trust and its services are
developed and improved. Membership is free and the extent to which our members are involved is
entirely up to them. Some are simply happy to receive a newsletter four times a year, while others are
keen to be involved in consultations and come along to meetings. Some have even become members
of our Council of Governors.
For further information please contact our Membership Office on:
0808 100 3318 or email: dhc.membership@nhs.net
CHECK OUT OUR WEBSITE
Our website provides comprehensive details of the Trust’s services and where they are provided,
including information about mental health, learning disabilities and community health services, what to
do in a crisis, updates on Trust initiatives and links to other useful websites.
There is also a section about Foundation Trust membership under the ‘About the Trust/Membership’
heading, where there is an opportunity to sign up online. One of the benefits of becoming a member
is that you have a vote when elections for public governors are held and thereby a say in who
represents you.
Visit: http://www.dorsethealthcare.nhs.uk/
This Quality Report can be found on the NHS Choices website at www.nhs.uk. This report can be made
available in a variety of formats, available on request.
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ANNEX 1
FEEDBACK FROM OUR STAKEHOLDERS
Comments from the Council of Governors on the Trust Quality Report 2017/18
1. The Council of Governors welcomes the opportunity to comment on the Trust Quality Account
Report for 2017/18.
2. The Council holds the view that the quality of the services delivered by the Trust is an important
measure of success. Reviewing the Quality Account Report is therefore an important element of our
overall approach to holding the Board, through the Non-Executive Directors, to account for the
performance of the Trust.
3. Public understanding of the quality of Trust services is key. The Quality Account Report, given the
mandated content, does not lend itself to review by the public at large and in response to comments
made by the Council 2016/17; an easy read version was published. The Council is pleased that this
year a shorter, publicly focused and more accessible document will be produced to provide a
summary of the progress being made by the Trust, the issues to be addressed, the Quality Account
priorities for 2017/18 and the achievements and ambitions of the organisation.
4. The Council is satisfied with the progress being made by the Trust in maintaining and improving the
quality of the services delivered to our community and beyond. The Council fully supports the
commitment of the Board and our staff to deliver nothing less than services of the highest quality.
The Council considers that it is necessary for the Board to lead by example in this area.
5. The Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspection in November 2017 was an important test of the
quality of services provided. The Council is pleased with the positive comments made by the CQC
and the fact that the Trust’s overall rating has been upgraded from ‘requires improvement’ to ‘good’.
The Council would like to congratulate the Board and staff on the outstanding work they put in to
achieve this rating and urge the Board to develop a plan for moving the Trust from being rated
‘good’ to ‘outstanding’. We note that whilst the safe domain is still rated ‘required improvement’ due
to a number of issues identified at a smaller number of our services, some new and others ongoing, the CQC report does note progress made in this domain. The Trust has developed an action
plan to address the issues identified and this will be monitored by the Board.
6. The Council fully supports the Trust in taking forward its commitment to participation and
engagement. The Council encourages the Trust to continue to engage with patients, people who
access services, carers, staff and the general public to deepen the understanding of what quality
means to the people of Dorset.
7. The Council also comments that:
• The Board should be congratulated on the progress made in respect of each of the Quality
Priorities for 2017/18 and the fact that all three have been achieved in the year;
• The Quality Account Report celebrates important specific areas of achievement. The
Council believes that having evidence of improving people’s experiences of services is an
important part of measuring progress with the Quality Priorities The Council would like to
see this progress reported over the next year.
• The selection of the priorities for 2018/19 is supported by Governors; these priorities seem
to address patient safety welfare and support for families and carers.
8. In conclusion, the Council recognises the progress being made by the Trust, the commendable
attitude and the effort being displayed by staff, and the results being achieved in improving the
quality of services delivered to the community.
May 2018
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Comments from Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group
Dorset CCG has been working closely with the Trust during the year, gaining assurance of the delivery
of safe and effective services. The information presented within the quality account is consistent with
quality, safety and performance information supplied to the CCG throughout the year through contract
reporting and discussions at meetings with the Trust. We can confirm that we have no reason to believe
this Quality Account is not an accurate representation of the performance of the organisation during
2017/18.
The recent CQC rating, ‘Good’ overall for the Trust reflects the significant improvement work
undertaken across all services and it is good to see some areas rated as outstanding. Members of CCG
staff have undertaken a number of announced quality assurance visits during the year and the findings
of these are aligned with those of the CQC inspection.
The Carers Trust award of the first star of three recognises the progress in the patient experience
priorities in 2017/18 which included the introduction of the Triangle of Care across mental health
services in patient services and the commitment to continue to improve service users’ and carers’
experience.
The work to bring care to the patient through development of staff skills has supported the patient
safety priority to reduce transfers of patients between services and healthcare professionals. This has
seen benefits in improving the management of deteriorating patients and the CCG supports the aim for
the forthcoming year to develop integrated working with acute and primary care colleagues through
implementation of the National Early Warning Score (2).
As the first community hospitals to achieve the Quality Mark for Elder-Friendly Hospital Wards during
the year, the Trust have demonstrated commitment to the clinical effectiveness priorities identified for
2017/18.
The CCG is supportive of the focus of the quality priorities for 2018/19 and will continue to work with
the Trust over the coming year to ensure all quality standards are monitored as set out in the reporting
requirements of the NHS Contract. The CCG also recognises the Trust’s support and collaborative
working with all health and social care partners to improve the quality of services for all Dorset
patients.
Comments from Dorset Heath Scrutiny Committee
Three Members of the Dorset Health Scrutiny Committee are appointed annually to form a Task and
Finish Group which meets twice per year with representatives of the Dorset HealthCare University NHS
Foundation Trust. These meetings provide a constructive and informal opportunity to discuss the
progress being made in improving quality and performance. The Committee’s representatives welcome
these opportunities to meet and would like to offer the following comments with regard to the Annual
Quality Account for 2017/18:
•
•
•
•
•

The Trust should be congratulated on its performance and progress this year. Members were
delighted to hear that the Care Quality Commission has very recently awarded the Trust with an
overall ‘good’ rating: an improvement from the previous rating of ‘requires improvement’;
The work undertaken to support and involve carers this year is highly commendable, with the
Triangle of Care scheme and John’s Campaign being of particular interest and note;
The work relating to the achievement of the Quality Mark for Elder-Friendly Wards is also
commendable and Members hope that this can be continued in the coming year;
Members were pleased to see a focus on suicide prevention going forwards, but questioned
whether a target of a 10% reduction (by the end of 2020) was sufficiently challenging. The
rationale behind the setting of this target would provide useful context;
With regard to probable or possible avoidable deaths of patients under the Trust’s care,
Members noted the learning from case reviews and investigations and in particular supported
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•
•

•

the need to ensure that full records are obtained wherever possible when patients are admitted
to hospitals, from within or outside Dorset;
The outcome of the annual national staff survey shows continued improvement and
demonstrates a commitment to supporting the workforce;
Overall Members found it difficult to judge the Trust’s performance against some key national
indicators due to a lack of current local data or national comparison data. However, the
apparent drop in performance with regard to people experiencing a first episode of psychosis
treated with a NICE-approved care package within two weeks of referral, was a cause for
concern. More detailed explanation as to anomalies such as this would be helpful;
Members were pleased to note that performance against national and locally agreed quality
indicators is good, with targets achieved and/or work to embed practice on-going.

In summary, the Dorset Health Scrutiny Committee has found that Dorset HealthCare University NHS
Foundation Trust continues to be open and cooperative in its meetings and communications with the
Committee, and Members congratulate the Trust on its work and progress over the last year.
Comments from Borough of Poole’s Health and Social Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Members of Borough of Poole’s P(HSC)OSC would like to thank the Trust for enabling representatives
of the committee to meet with yourselves to discuss quality issues over the last year and also to
comment on this draft Quality Account for 2016/17. The Report gives a clear outline of how the Trust is
endeavouring to deliver high quality care and the activities undertaken during the financial year to
improve services.
The P(HSC)OSC are encouraged to note that the Trust has continued to consult with it’s staff, residents
and stakeholders to establish the three priorities for improvement. With regard to the priority areas for
2016/17 we commend the Trust in achieving the majority of what it had planned in relation to:
Patient Experience- to ensure that patients and carers are engaged and active participants in
care planning and delivery. Representatives from the committee were interested to hear about the
impact of “John’s Campaign” which calls for the families and carers of people with dementia to have the
same rights as the patients of sick children, and to be allowed to remain with them in hospital for as
many hours as they are needed, and as they are able to give. It is encouraging to note that the
feedback from the pilot has indicated that the ‘open visiting’ improves the patient and carers experience
and that the Trust will join other NHS Trusts across England with the implementation of the Carers
Passport, during the end of the 16/17 financial year.
Patient Safety- to reduce the number of patients using the service who experience an
unexpected deterioration in their physical condition which results in admission to an acute
general hospital. Representatives from the committee were encouraged to note that 6 key conditions
were identified where a transfer may have been unnecessary if staff were upskilled to manage these
conditions outside of an acute setting.
Clinical Effectiveness- Implementing NICE quality standards- The Trust identified areas such as
treatment of Venous Thromboembolism (VTE) and support to staff delivering End of Life Services
needed improving through use of NICE quality standards. Representatives of the committee were glad
to learn that progress had been made in developing a VTE Training Module which has been rolled out
and training delivered to appropriate staff. It is also encouraging to note that 9 out of 11 community
hospitals had achieved or were working towards the Gold Standards Framework accreditation for end
of life care. Members of the committee were also encouraged to note substantial progress made in
reducing avoidable pressure ulcers.
Moving forward to 17/18 the committee note that priority improvement areas build on and expand on
those from 16/17. Of particular interest over the next year will be understanding how the triangle of
care approach shifts culture; alongside upskilling of staff to bring care to the patient rather than transfer
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them to another provider and also ensuring that the carers passport continues to be rolled out along
with achieving the Quality Mark for Elderly Friendly Hospital Wards.
Thank you for the opportunity to comment on an interesting Quality Account. We look forward to
reading the published version but please take this letter as Borough of Poole’s response to the draft
version sent to the Council on 7th April 2017.
Comments from Bournemouth Borough Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee
The quality account has shown that DUHFT has met the majority of their targets, they set out their main
priorities clearly and achieved them. They have also set themselves recommendations for the future.
Their priorities were focused on the quality of care the patient received, their experience whilst in care,
and the experience of those who care about them. These are vital priorities of any care giving service. It
is an important to set objectives that push you to achieve the best quality service possible whilst being
realistic in your goals, DUHFT seem to have achieved this balance very well. However as set out in the
account there is always room for improvement, and hopefully DUHFT will continue to do so.
Changes made as a result of feedback from our stakeholders
Following receipt of these written statements, there are no significant changes to our Quality Account
required from the feedback and therefore no changes were necessary.
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ANNEX 2
STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES
The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service (Quality
Accounts) Regulations to prepare Quality Accounts for each financial year.
NHS Improvement has issued guidance to NHS foundation trust boards on the form and content of
annual quality reports (which incorporate the above legal requirements) and on the arrangements that
NHS foundation trust boards should put in place to support the data quality for the preparation of the
quality report.
In preparing the Quality Report, directors are required to take steps to satisfy themselves that:
• the content of the Quality Report meets the requirements set out in the NHS Foundation Trust
Annual Reporting Manual 2017/18 and supporting guidance;
• the content of the Quality Report is not inconsistent with internal and external sources of
information including:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

board minutes and papers for the period April 2017to March 2018;
papers relating to Quality reported to the Board over the period April 2017 to March 2018;
feedback from the commissioners dated 4 May 2018
feedback from governors dated May 2018;
feedback from Overview and Scrutiny Committee dated 3 May 2018 and 8 May 2018,
The Trust's complaints report published under regulation 18 of the Local Authority Social
Services and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009, dated May2018;
The national patient survey dated November 2017
The national staff survey dated 2017;
The Head of Internal Audit's annual opinion over the Trust's control environment dated April
2018;
Care Quality Commission inspection reports dated 13 April 2018

the Quality Report presents a balanced picture of the NHS Foundation Trust's performance over
the period covered;
the performance information reported in the Quality Report is reliable and accurate;
there are proper internal controls over the collection and reporting of the measures of performance
included in the Quality Report, and these controls are subject to review to confirm that they are
working effectively in practice;
the data underpinning the measures of performance reported in the Quality Report is robust and
reliable, conforms to specified data quality standards and prescribed definitions, is subject to
appropriate scrutiny and review; and
the Quality Report has been prepared in accordance with NHS Improvement annual reporting
manual and supporting guidance (which incorporates the Quality Accounts regulations) as well as
the standards to support data quality for the preparation of the Quality Report

The directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied with the above
requirements in preparing the Quality Report.
By order of the Board
Date: 23/05/2018

----/-------

Andy Willis, Chair.

Date: 23/05/2018
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ANNEX 3
DEFINITION OF INDICATORS
These are the detailed definitions for the indicators tested by external audit and are the subject of their
Limited Assurance report on page 79 of this quality report.
INDICATOR

DEFINITION

Percentage of
incomplete pathways
within 18 weeks for
patients on
incomplete pathways
at the end of the
reporting period
(relates to consultant
led)

Percentage of incomplete pathways within 18 weeks for
patients on incomplete pathways
Source of indicator definition and detailed guidance
The indicator is defined within the technical definitions that
accompany Everyone counts: planning for patients 2014/15 2018/19 and can be found at www.england.nhs.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2014/01/ec-tech-def-1415-1819.pdf
Detailed rules and guidance for measuring referral to treatment
(RTT) standards can be found at
http://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/rttwaiting-times/rtt-guidance/
Detailed descriptor
E.B.3: The percentage of incomplete pathways within 18 weeks
for patients on incomplete pathways at the end of the period
Numerator
The number of patients on an incomplete pathway at the end of
the reporting period who have been waiting no more than 18
weeks
Denominator
The total number of patients on an incomplete pathway at the end
of the reporting period
Accountability
Performance is to be sustained at or above the published
operational standard. Details of current operational standards are
available at: www.england.nhs.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2013/12/5yr-strat-plann-guid-wa.pdf (see Annex
B: NHS Constitution Measures).
Indicator format
Reported as a percentage
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INDICATOR

DEFINITION

Early intervention in
psychosis (EIP):
people experiencing
a first episode of
psychosis treated
with a NICEapproved care
package within two
weeks of referral

Detailed descriptor
The proportion of people experiencing first episode psychosis or
‘at risk mental state’ who wait two weeks or less to start NICE
recommended package of care.
Numerator
The number of referrals to and within the trust with suspected first
episode psychosis or at ‘risk mental state’ that start a NICErecommended package of care package in reporting period within
2 weeks of referral.
Denominator
The number of referrals to and within the trust with suspected first
episode psychosis or at ‘risk mental state’ that start a NICErecommended package of care package in reporting period.
Detailed guidance
More guidance is available at
www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/eip-waitingtimes/ and https://www.england.nhs.uk/mentalhealth/wpcontent/uploads/sites/29/2016/02/tech-cyped-eip.pdf
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LIMITED ASSURANCE REPORT
Independent Auditors' Limited Assurance Report to the Council of Governors of Dorset
HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust on the Annual Quality Report

We have been engaged by the Council of Governors of Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation
Trust to perform an independent assurance engagement in respect of Dorset HealthCare University
NHS Foundation Trust's Quality Report for the year ended 31 March 2018 (the 'Quality Report') and
specified performance indicators contained therein.
Scope and subject matter

The indicators for the year ended 31 March 2018 subject to limited assurance (the "specified
indicators") marked with the symbol
indicators as mandated by Monitor:

® in the Quality Report, consist of the following national priority

Specified Indicators

Specified indicators criteria (exact
page number where criteria can be
found)

Percentage of incomplete pathways
within 18 weeks for patients on
incomplete pathways at the end of the
reporting period
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Early intervention in psychosis (EIP):
pe�ple experiencing a first episode of
psychosis treated with a NICE-approved
care package within two weeks of referral
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Respective responsibilities of the Directors and auditors

The Directors are responsible for the content and the preparation of the Quality Report in accordance
with the specified indicators criteria referred to on pages of the Quality Report as listed above (the
"Criteria"). The Directors are also responsible for the conformity of their Criteria with the assessment
criteria set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual ("FT ARM") and the "Detailed
requirements for quality reports for foundation trusts 2017/18" issued by Monitor (operating as NHS
Improvement) ("NHSI").
Our responsibility is to form a conclusion, based on limited assurance procedures, on whether anything
has come to our attention that causes us to believe that:
•
•
•

The Quality Report does not incorporate the matters required to be reported on as specified in
the FT ARM and the "Detailed requirements for quality reports for foundation trusts 2017/18";
The Quality Report is not consistent in all material respects with the sources specified below;
and
The specified indicators have not been prepared in all material respects in accordance with the
Criteria set out in the FT ARM and the "Detailed requirements for external assurance for quality
reports for foundation trusts 2017/18".

We read the Quality Report and consider whether it addresses the content requirements of the FT ARM
and the "Detailed requirements for quality reports for foundation trusts 2017/18"; and consider the
implications for our report if we become aware of any material omissions.
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We read the other information contained in the Quality Report and consider whether it is materially
inconsistent with the following documents:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Board minutes for the financial year, April 2017 to March 2018 (the period);
Papers relating to quality report reported to the Board over the period April 2017 to March 2018;
Feedback from the Commissioners, NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group, dated 4 May 2018;
Feedback from Governors dated May 2018;
Feedback from the Borough of Poole Health and Social Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee
dated 3 May 2018;
Feedback from the Dorset Health Scrutiny Committee dated 8 May 2018;
Feedback from Bournemouth Borough Council Overview and Scrutiny Committee dated May 2018;
The Trust's complaints report published under regulation 18 of the Local Authority Social Services
and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009, dated May 2018;
The latest national and local patient survey dated November 2017;
The latest national and local staff survey dated 2017;
Care Quality Commission inspection report, dated 13 April 2018; and
The Head of Internal Audit's annual opinion over the Trust's control environment dated April 2018.

We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or
material inconsistencies with those documents (collectively, the "documents 'j. Our responsibilities do
not extend to any other information.
Our Independence and Quality Control

We applied the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (ICAEW) Code of Ethics,
which includes independence and other requirements founded on fundamental principles of integrity,
objectivity, professional competence and due care, confidentiality and professional behaviour.
We apply International Standard on Quality Control (UK) 1 and accordingly maintain a comprehensive
system of quality control including documented policies and procedures regarding compliance with
ethical requirements, professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements.
Use and distribution of the report

This report, including the conclusion, has been prepared solely for the Council of Governors of Dorset
HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust as a body, to assist the Council of Governors in reporting
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust's quality agenda, performance and activities. We
permit the disclosure of this report within the Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2018, to
enable the Council of Governors to demonstrate they have discharged their governance responsibilities
by commissioning an independent assurance report in connection with the indicators. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Council of
Governors as a body and Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust for our work or this
report save where terms are expressly agreed and with our prior consent in writing.
Assurance work performed

We conducted this limited assurance engagement in accordance with International Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) 'Assurance Engagements other than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information' issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board
('ISAE 3000 (Revised)'). Our limited assurance procedures included:
•
•

reviewing the content of the Quality Report against the requirements of the FT ARM and the
"Detailed requirements for quality reports for foundation trusts 2017/18";
reviewing the Quality Report for consistency against the documents specified above;
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•
•
•
•
•
•

obtaining an understanding of the design and operation of the controls in place in relation to the
collation and reporting of the specified indicators, including controls over third party information
(if applicable) and performing walkthroughs to confirm our understanding;
based on our understanding, assessing the risks that the performance against the specified
indicators may be materially misstated and determining the nature, timing and extent of further
procedures;
making enquiries of relevant management, personnel and, where relevant, third parties;
considering significant judgements made by the NHS Foundation Trust in preparation of the
specified indicators;
performing limited testing, on a selective basis of evidence supporting the reported performance
indicators, and assessing the related disclosures; and
reading the documents.

A limited assurance engagement is less in scope than a reasonable assurance engagement. The
nature, timing and extent of procedures for gathering sufficient appropriate evidence are deliberately·
limited relative to a reasonable assurance engagement.
Limitations

Non-financial performance information is subject to more inherent limitations than financial information,
given the characteristics of the subject matter and the methods used for determining such information.
The absence of a significant body of established practice on which to draw allows for the selection of
different but acceptable measurement techniques which can result in materially different measurements
and can impact comparability. The precision of different measurement techniques may also vary.
Furthermore, the nature and methods used to determine such information, as well as the measurement
criteria and the precision thereof, may change over time. It is important to read the Quality Report in the
context of the assessment criteria set out in the FT ARM and "Detailed requirements for quality reports
for foundation trusts 2017/1 B"and the Criteria referred to above.
The nature, form and content required of Quality Reports are determined by NHSI. This may result in
the omission of information relevant to other users, for example for the purpose of comparing the
results of different NHS Foundation Trusts.
In addition, the scope of our assurance work has not included governance over quality or non
mandated indicators in the Quality Report, which have been determined locally by Dorset HealthCare
University NHS Foundation Trust.
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Conclusion
Based on the results of our procedures, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that
for the year ended 31 March 2018:
• The Quality Report does not incorporate the matters required to be reported on as specified in
the FT ARM and the "Detailed requirements for quality reports for foundation trusts 2017/18'';
• The Quality Report is not consistent in all material respects with the documents specified above;
and
• The specified indicators have not been prepared in all material respects in accordance with the
Criteria set out in the FT ARM and the "Detailed requirements for external assurance for quality
reports for foundation trusts 2017/18".

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Southampton
25 May 2018

The maintenance and integrity of the Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust's website is the responsibility of the
directors; the work carried out by the assurance providers does not involve consideration of these matters and, accordingly,
the assurance providers accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the reported performance
indicators or criteria since they were initially presented on the website.
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS

Avoidable
Avoidable means the patient receiving care developed a pressure ulcer and the provider of care did
not do one of the following: evaluate the patients clinical condition and pressure ulcer risk factors; plan
and implement interventions that are consistent with patient needs, goals, and recognised standards
of practice; monitor and evaluate the impact of those interventions; or revise the interventions as
appropriate (NPSA 2010).
Board of Directors
The Board of Directors agree the future plans of the organisation and consists of Non-Executive
Directors, Executive Directors and Locality Directors.
Care Programme Approach (CPA)
The process that providers of mental health care use to co-ordinate the care, treatment and support
for people who have mental health needs.
Care Quality Commission (CQC)
The CQC is the independent regulator of health and adult social care services in England. It also
protects the interests of people whose rights are restricted under the Mental Health Act.
Child and Adolescence Mental Health Services (CAMHS)
CAMHS provides assessment and treatment for children and young people up to the age of 18 years
(and their families/carers), who are suffering significant mental health problems which have not
responded to intervention at primary care and early intervention level.
Clinical audits
A systematic process for setting and monitoring standards of clinical care. ‘Guidelines’ define what the
best clinical practice should be, ‘audit’ investigates whether best practice is being carried out and
makes recommendations for improvement.
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)
The CCG’s are clinically led NHS organisations which organise the delivery of NHS services in
England.
Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN)
A payment framework that has been a compulsory part of the NHS contract from 2009/10. It allows all
local health communities to develop their own schemes to encourage quality improvement and
recognise innovation by making a proportion of NHS service provider’s income conditional on locally
agreed goals.
Community Health Services (CHS)
Provides a range of services to assist people with their physical, emotional and mental health needs.
These services are provided in the community so are close to people’s homes. Dorset HealthCare
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works in partnership with GP, Social Services and local health providers to provide these services.
Community Hospitals
Community hospitals provide many services including elderly inpatient care, outpatient appointments,
therapy services and theatre.
Community Mental Health Team (CMHT)
Community Mental Health Teams (CMHTs) are multi-disciplinary, multi-agency assessment teams
designed to provide mental health care and treatment for individuals with more complex and enduring
mental health needs in the community.
Council of Governors
The Council of Governors are guardians of the Trust working on behalf of local communities and staff.
The Council ensure that the Trust complies with the terms of its authorisation as an NHS Foundation
Trust and meets regularly to advise the Board of Directors on the Trust’s development and strategies.
Dementia
Dementia is associated with an ongoing decline of the brain and its abilities, most notably including
memory, language and understanding.
Foundation Trust
Foundation Trusts are a type of NHS organisation with greater local accountability and freedom to
manage themselves. They remain within the NHS overall, and provide the same services as
traditional trusts, but have more freedom to set local goals. Staff and members of the public can join
their Boards or become members.
Friends and Family Test (FFT)
The FFT asks patients if they would recommend services to their family and friends. The FFT is now in
place in all community hospitals, inpatient mental health hospitals, minor injury units and all teams in
the community.
Gold Standards Framework
The Gold Standards Framework (GSF) is a model that enables good practice to be available to all
people nearing the end of their lives, irrespective of diagnosis
Healthwatch
Healthwatch is an independent organisation which ensures the voice of patients and carers are heard
throughout health and care services. They can raise issues of concern within an organisation and
work with them to improve services. They ensure that patients are getting the services they need.
Hospital Episode Statistics
Hospital Episode Statistics is the national statistical data warehouse for England of the care provided
by NHS hospitals and for NHS hospital patients treated elsewhere.
Information Governance Toolkit
An online tool that enables organisations to measure their performance against information governance
standards.
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There are several elements of law and policy from which information governance standards are
derived. It encompasses legal requirements, central guidance and best practice in information
handling, including:
•
•
•
•
•
•

The common law duty of confidentiality
Data Protection Act 1998
Information security
Information quality
Records management
Freedom of Information Act 2000.

John’s Campaign
A Campaign set up by the family of Dr John Gerrard to promote the use of family and carer support for
patients admitted to a hospital with dementia. http://johnscampaign.org.uk/#/about
Mental Health Services (MHS)
Provides a range of treatments for people across Dorset who are suffering from a mental health
problem. These services can be provided at home, in the community or in more specialised inpatient
units.
Minor Injury Unit’s (MIU’s)
MIU’s provide help for people with injuries which are not life threatening, enabling Accident and
Emergency Departments to concentrate on those with serious conditions.
National Institute of Health and Care Excellence (NICE)
NICE provides guidance, sets quality standards and manages a national database to improve people’s
health and prevent and treat ill health.
NICE makes recommendations to the NHS on:
• new and existing medicines, treatments and procedures
• treating and caring for people with specific diseases and conditions
• how to improve people’s health and prevent illness and disease.
National patient surveys
The National Patient Survey Programme, coordinated by the Care Quality Commission, gathers
feedback from patients on different aspects of their experience of recently received care, across a
variety of services/settings.
Monitor
The independent regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts, ensuring they are well led and financially
robust.
Non-Executive Director
An outside member of the Board of Directors who is not affiliated with the organisation, they are
sometimes known as independent directors.
POMH
Prescribing Observatory for Mental Health (Royal College of Psychiatrists).
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Pressure Ulcer (PU)
Pressure ulcers are a type of injury that breaks down the skin and underlying tissue. They are caused
when an area of skin is placed under pressure. They are also sometimes known as 'bedsores' or
'pressure sores'.
Q1, Q2, Q3, Q4
Q1 stands for Quarter 1. The Trust reports progress with our priorities every 3 months (quarterly).
Quarter one is April – June in any calendar year. Quarter two is July – September in any calendar year.
Quarter three is October - December. Quarter four is January - March.
Quality Mark Elder Friendly Hospital Ward Programme
A quality improvement programme for individual hospital wards run by the Royal Collage of
Psychiatrists. Participation in the programme ensures a continuous focus on the care provided for
people over the age of 65 and demonstrates the commitment made by the hospital, the ward and the
staff to identify and carry out improvements, and to achieve a consistent quality of care for older
people.
Research
Clinical research and clinical trials are an everyday part of the NHS. The people who do research are
mostly the same doctors and other health professionals who treat people. A clinical trial is a particular
type of research that tests one treatment against another. It may involve either patients or people in
good health, or both.
Root Cause Analysis (RCA)
Root Cause Analysis (RCA) is the structured approach to identifying the factors which resulted in an
incident. The root causes are the fundamental issues which have led to an incident occurring and
must be addressed to improve the delivery of care.
Safeguarding
A term used in conjunction with measures that are taken to protect, safeguard and promote the health
and welfare of children and vulnerable people. Ensuring they live free from harm, abuse and neglect.
Secondary Uses Service
The Secondary Uses Service is designed to provide anonymous patient-based data for purposes
other than direct clinical care such as healthcare planning, commissioning, public health, clinical audit
and governance, benchmarking, performance improvement, medical research and national policy
development.
Triangle of Care
A programme launched in July 2010 between the Carers Trust and the National Mental Health
Development Unit, emphasising the need for better local strategic involvement of carers and families in
the care planning and treatment of people with mental ill-health.
Venous Thromboembolism (VTE)
Venous thrombosis or phlebothrombosis is a blood clot (thrombus) that forms within a vein.

Page 86 of 86

Independent auditors' report to the Council ofGovernors
ofDorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust
Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
In our opinion, Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust's financial statements:
•

give a true and fair view of the state of the Trust's affairs as at 31 March· 2018 and of the Trust's income and
expenditure and cash flows for the year then ended

•

have been properly prepared in accordance with the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting
Manual 2017/18.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report and Accounts 2017/18 (the "Annual Report"),
which comprise: the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2018; the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the
year then ended; the Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended; the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers' Equity for
the year then ended; and the notes to the financial statements, which include a description of the significant accounting
policies.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with the National Health Service Act 2006, the Code of Audit Practice and relevant
guidance issued by the National Audit Office on behalf of the Comptroller and Auditor General (the "Code of Audit
Practice"), International Standards on Auditing (UK) ("ISAs (UK)") and applicable law. Our responsibilities under ISAs
(UK) are further described in the Auditors' responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence
We remained independent of the Trust in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the UK, which includes the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance ¼ith these requirements.

Our audit approach

Context
Our audit for the year ended 31 March 2018 was planned and executed having regard to the fact that the Trust's operations
and financial stability were largely unchanged in nature from the previous year. In light of this, our approach to the audit in
terms of scoping and areas of focus was largely unchanged.

Overview
1.

Overall materiality: £4,932,000 which represents 2% of total revenue.

2. In establishing our overall approach we assessed the risks of material misstatement and
applied our professional judgement to determine the extent of testing required over each
balance in the financial statements.
3. The Key Audit Matters we identified were:
•
Risk of fraud in revenue and expenditure recognition; and
•
Valuation of land and buildings.
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The scope ofour audit
As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial
statements. In particular, we looked at where the directors made subjective judgements, for example in respect of significant
accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain.
As in all of our audits we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including evaluating whether
there was evidence of bias by the directors that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors' professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of
the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement
(whether or not due to fraud) identified by the auditors, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit
strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters, and any
comments we make on the results of our procedures thereon, were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. This
is not a complete list of all risks identified by our audit.
Key audit matter
Risk of fraud in revenue and expenditure recognition
See note 1 to the.financial statements for the directors'
disclosures of the related accounting policies,
judgements and estimates relating to the recognition of
income and expenditure/orfurther information.
We focused on these areas because the Trust had an
incentive to exceed the control total agreed with NHS
Improvement ("NHSI") and receive additional income
from the Sustainability and Transformation Fund ("STF")
including core STF for meeting its control total and
incentive and bonus STF for exceeding its control total.
The control total agreed for the Trust was a surplus of
£2.2m (before transfers and impairments) including core
STF of £1.8m. As the Trust exceeded its control total, it
was therefore entitled to the full £1.8m of core STF
income plus additional STF of £3.om.
There was a risk that management would overstate the
financial result for the year to meet its control total:
•

Income may be recognised in 2017/18 that relates to
2018/19 or income may be recognised that does not
exist.

•

Expenditure relating to 2017/18 may not be
recognised.

Income
The Trust's principal source of income is from Clinical
Commissioning Groups (CCGs). The contracts with the
CCGs are annual and the majority of the income is fixed
for the year under a block contract and does not fluctuate
with the level of activity. In line with the standard NHS
contract, 2.5% of this income relates to Commissioning
for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) and is received
based on achievement against a series of performance
indicators. There may also be contract variations to the
block contracts signed during the year. These elements
are more subject to management judgement regarding
the amount of such income to which the Trust is entitled.
The Trust's non-block contract income arises from a
number of different activities, for example, education and
training and is subject to differing terms and conditions
and, hence, subject to management judgement regarding
the amount and timing ofincome that is recognised.
We focused our work on:

How our audit addressed the Key audit matter
Income
For a sample of CQU� income, we read the terms and
conditions of the relevant contract, traced the amount that
had been recognised to supporting documentation,
including an analysis of the Trust's achievement of the
performance indicators. We agreed the CQUIN income to
the invoices raised.
There were no material variations to the block contracts
during the year.
For a sample of non-block contract income recognised
throughout the year, we traced the amount that had been
recognised to supporting documentation (for example, a
signed contract or agreement, an invoice and
correspondence) and where possible, to subsequent cash
receipt.
We tested a sample of income transactions that had been
accounted for in the month before and after the year end to
check that income had been recognised in the correct
accounting period by agreeing the transaction to supporting
documentation (for example, signed contract or agreement,
an invoice and correspondence).
We tested the largest element of accrued income at year-end
being the final STF income receivable to ensure the Trust
had correctly recognised the income within 2017/18.
For a sample of accounts receivable balances as at 31 March
2018, we agreed the amount outstanding to supporting
documentation (such an invoice or correspondence) and
subsequent receipts, where possible, to ensure the income
had been recognised in the correct period, and was
recoverable.
Expenditure
We selected a sample of post year end expenditure
transactions and payments and checked that the
corresponding expense had been recognised in the correct
period by agreeing to supporting documentation (such as
invoice).
We tested accrued expenses as at the year-end by agreeing a
sampie of items to the subsequent invoice or to other
relevant supporting documentation including contracts or
calculations of the accrual. We agreed estimates and
assumptions to previous invoices received for the
goods/service to check they had been recognised at the
correct amount and had been recognised in the correct
2

How our audit addressed the Key audit matter

Key audit matter

•

CQUIN income;

period.

•

variations to the block contract amounts agreed at the
start of the year;

•

non-block contract income; and

•

non-standard journal transactions, including those
impacting income and accrued income.

We tested a sample of provisions recognised at the year-end
by checking to supporting documentation such as
agreements or correspondence with third parties. We also
read Board and Audit Committee minutes to identify
whether there were indications that the balance was not
complete.

Expenditure

There were no material prepayment balances at the year-end

We focused our work on the elements of expenditure that
we considered to be the most susceptible to
misstatement, being non-pay and non-depreciation
expenditure. We also focused our work on non-standard
journal transactions, including those impacting
expenditure.

Intra-NHS transactions and balances
We obtained the Trust's mismatch reports received from
NHSI, which identified transactions and balances with other
NHS bodies (debtor, creditor, income or expenditure
balances) that were disputed by the counterparty. We
checked that management had investigated all disputed
amounts and discussed with them the results of their
investigation and the resolution. We read correspondence
with the counterparties, which corroborated these results.
We considered the impact, if any, that the remaining
disputed amounts would have on the Trust's financial
statements and determined that there was no material
impact.
Journals
We selected a risk-based sample of manual and automated
journals, focusing on those journals that increased income
or decreased expenditure with the corresponding double
entry to a balance sheet account excluding accounts that
would be expected for such entries such as cash, accounts
receivable and accounts payable.
We traced these journals entries to supporting
documentation (for example, invoices, cash receipts and
payments and correspondence with third parties) to check
that the journal was appropriate and had been recognised in
the right period.

Valuation of land and buildings
Management's accountingpolicies, key judgements and
use ofexperts relating to the valuation ofthe Trust's land
and buildings are disclosed in note 1 to the.financial
statements.
All property, plant and equipment is measured initially at
cost, with land and buildings subsequently measured at
fair value in accordance with the Department of Health
Group Accounting Manual 2017/18.
As at the balance sheet date the Trust's land and buildings
were valued at £146.9 million. The financial statements
show:
• a revaluation gain of £2.6 million and an impairment
of £2.0 million recognised through the Statement of
Changes in Taxpayer's Equity; and
• a reversal of impairment of £0.5 million recognised
within operating expenditure.
We focused on this area due to the material nature of this
balance, and the consequent impact on the financial
statements were it to be materially misstated.
Valuations are performed by a professionally accredited
expert, in accordance with the Royal Institute of
Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Appraisal and Valuation
Manual, and performed with sufficient regularity to

We obtained (directly from the valuer) and read the relevant
sections of the valuation performed by the Trust's Valuer.
We then used our own valuations specialists to evaluate and
challenge the assumptions and methodology applied in the
valuation exercise, finding the assumptions and
methodology applied to be consistent with our expectations.
We checked and found that the valuer had a UK
qualification, was part of an appropriate professional body
and was not connected with the Trust.
We tested the underlying data (upon which the valuation
was based) by agreeing it back to land area and floor plans
for a sample of properties. Where an adjustment had been
made to reflect the Modern Equivalent Asset (MEA) basis,
we considered the assumptions made and whether this was
appropriate based on the site plans provided.
For a sample of assets we obtained the title deed from HM
Land Registry that confirmed that the Trust had ownership
of the property.
We checked and found that the change in valuation was
correctly reflected in the financial statements.

3

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the Key audit matter

ensure that the carrying value is not materially different
from fair value at the balance sheet date.
The specific areas ofrisk are:
• accuracy ofthe detailed information on properties
provided to the valuation expert - most significantly
the land area and floor plans, on which the valuation
ofNHS properties is routinely based;
• the methodology, assumptions and underlying data
used by the valuation expert;
• the accounting transactions resulting from this
valuation.

How we tailored the audit scope
We tailored the scope ofour audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the financial
statements as a whole, taking into account the accounting processes and controls, and the environment in which the Trust
operates.

Materiality
The scope ofour audit was influenced by our application ofmateriality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for
materiality. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope ofour audit and the nature,
timing and extent ofour audit procedures and to evaluate the effect ofmisstatements, both individually and on the financial
statements as a whole.
Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:
Overall materiality

£4,932,000 (2017: £5,218,000)

How we determined it

2% of revenue (2017: 2% of revenue
(including discontinued operations)

Rationale for benchmark applied

Consistent with last year, we have applied
this benchmark, a generally accepted
auditing practice, in the absence of
indicators that an alternative benchmark
would be appropriate.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above
£200,000 (2017: £200,000) as well as misstatements below that amount that, in our view, warranted reporting for
qualitative reasons.

Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect ofthe following matters in relation to which ISAs (UK) require us to report to you
when:
• the directors' use ofthe going concern basis ofaccounting in the preparation ofthe financial statements is not
appropriate; or
• the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast
significant doubt about the Trust's ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis ofaccounting for a period of
at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.
However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to the Trust's
ability to continue as a going concern.

Reporting on other information
The other information comprises all ofthe information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our
auditors' report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements
does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in this report, any form ofassurance thereon.
In connection with our audit ofthe financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained
in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. Ifwe identify an apparent material inconsistency or material
4

misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the financial
statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report
based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Performance Report and the Accountability Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required
by the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2017/18 have been included.
Based on the responsibilities described above and our work undertaken in the course of the audit, ISAs (UK) and the Code
of Audit Practice require us also to report certain opinions and matters as described below.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit
Responsibilities of the directors for the.financial statements

As explained more fully in the Accountability Report on page 39, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements in accordance with the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2017/18, and
for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Trust's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Trust or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Trust is also responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its
use of resources.

Auditors' responsibilities for the audit of thefinancial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC's website at:
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors' report.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs (UK), we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism

We are required under Schedule 10(1) of the National Health Service Act 2006 to satisfy ourselves that the Trust has made
proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources and to report to you where we
have not been able to satisfy ourselves that it has done so. We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether
all aspects of the Trust's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are
operating effectively. We have undertaken our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the
criterion determined by the Comptroller and Auditor General as to whether the Trust has proper arrangements to ensure it
took properly informed decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and
local people. We planned our work in accordance ¼'ith the Code of Audit Practice. Based our on risk assessment, we
undertook such work as we considered necessary.
We will prepare an annual audit letter which will cover the Trust's key risks in securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources, how these have been discharged by the Trust, and our actions to review these. The Trust
is responsible for publishing this annual audit letter, and ensuring that it is available to the public.

Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Council of Governors of Dorset HealthCare
University NHS Foundation Trust as a body in accordance with paragraph 24 of Schedule 7 of the National Health Service
Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other
purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed
by our prior consent in writing.

Other required reporting

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Code ofAudit Practice
Performance Report ar)d Accountability Report
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Performance Report
and Accountability Report for the year ended 31 March 2018 is consistent with the financial statements and has been
prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.
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In light of the knowledge and understanding of the Trust and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we did not
identify any material misstatements in the Performance Report or Accountability Report.
In addition, the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Reports to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with
the NHS Foundation Trust Annual ReportingManual2017/18.
Arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness

in the use of resources

Under the Code of Audit Practice we are required to report, by exception, if we conclude we are not satisfied that the Trust
has put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year
ended 31 March2018. We have nothing to report as a result of this requirement.
Other matters on which we report by exception

We are required to report to you if:
•

the statement given by the directors on page 38, in accordance with provision C.1.1 of the NHS Foundation Trust
Code of Governance, that they consider the Annual Report taken as a whole to be fair, balanced and
understandable, and provides the information necessary for members to assess the Trust's performance, business
model and strategy is materially inconsistent with our knowledge of the Trust acquired in the course of performing
our audit.

•

the section of the Annual Report on pages21 to23, as required by provision C.3.9 of the NHS Foundation Trust
Code of Governance, describing the work of the Audit Committee does not appropriately address matters
communicated by us to the Audit Committee.

•

the Annual Governance Statement does not meet the disclosure requirements set out in the NHS Foundation Trust
Annual ReportingManual2017/18 or is misleading or inconsistent with our knowledge acquired in the course of
performing our audit. We have not considered whether the Annual Governance Statement addresses all risks and
controls or that risks are satisfactorily addressed by internal controls.

•

we have referred a matter to Monitor under Schedule 10 (6) of the National Health Service Act2006 because we
had reason to believe that the Trust, or a director or officer of the Trust, was about to make, or had made, a
decision which involved or would involve the incurring of expenditure that was unlawful, or was about to take, or
had taken a course of action which, if followed to its conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or
deficiency.

•

we have issued a report in the public interest under Schedule 10 (3) of the National Health Service Act2006.

•

we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit of the financial statements in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 5 of
Part2 to the National Health Service Act2006 and the Code ofAudit Practice.

Sasha Lewis (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Southampton
25May2018

